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/FINANCIAL

KEY FIGURES
/ESG
1

STATIONS AT YEAR END IN DENMARK AND NORWAY

2017 2018 2019 2020

UNIT

2020

2019

Tons CO2e
Tons CO2e
Mill. tons CO2e
Kg CO2e / total sold litres

272
854
5,202
3,008

355
1155
5,461
3,067

2017 2018 2019 2020

Scope 1
Scope 2
Scope 3 inclusive ILUC
Life Cycle Analysis of products + ILUC

109

106

105

111

104

120

123

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA
128

2017 2018 2019 2020

YX Truck

294

300

Bonus
261

217

318

YX
296

288

288

Uno-X

2017 2018 2019 2020

SOCIAL DATA
Employees
Female employees
Male employees
Female employees top/middle management
Male employees top/middle management
Sickness absence incl. long term

PERFORMANCE
RESULT

2020

2019

BALANCE SHEET

18 816
-8 678
10 138
806
-231
815
623

21 001
-8 672
12 329
512
34
444
356

Non-current assets
Current assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total capital
Equity ratio

2 754
2 210
1 639
921
2 404
4 964
33,0 %

2 402
2 665
1 595
828
2 644
5 067
31,5 %

PROFITABILITY

2020

2019

CASH FLOW

2020

2019

Operating margin
Cash flow margin
Return on assets
Return on equity

8,0 %
11,4 %
16,9 %
38,5 %

4,2 %
6,7 %
9,7 %
22,7 %

EBITDA before FIFO
EBITDA after FIFO
Net investment in fixed assets
Cash at 31 December
Current borrowings at 31 December
Net interest-bearing debt at
31 Dec. ex. lease liabilities

1 391
1 160
382
92
324

798
832
303
57
207

231

147

Operating revenue incl. excise duties
Excise duties
Operating revenue ex. excise duties
Operating profit
FIFO effect
Profit before taxes
Profit for the year

For definitions of key figures, see page page 101.
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31.12.20 31.12.19

FTE
%
%
%
%
%

157
35
65
24
76
3,1

%
%

33
100

GOVERNANCE DATA
Gender diversity board*
Board attendance rate

33
100

* From 2021: 66 % gender diversity board

1

Methodology of KPI’s is on page page 102.
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/CEO’S
CORNER

report will go more into. I think our ESG work will
be even more important going forward, rigging
Uno-X Energi for the future.

COMMITTED TO DEVELOP AND PROMOTE
SOLUTIONS FOR SUSTAINABLE MOBILITY

Uno-X Energi´s vision is to be
recognized as the most efficient
and value-driven fuel, lubricants
and car wash company in the
Nordic region.
A VALUE-BASED BUSINESS
Uno-X Energi is one of four concept companies
in REITAN HANDEL, owned by REITAN. Our
business consists of seven companies, four in
Norway and three in Denmark. Our culture is
built on the REITAN-mindset, and with an aligned
set of values throughout the organisation we
work better together and achieve goals faster.
Trust is an essential ingredient for us, inspiring a
winning culture.
Being a value-based company we are of course
committed to working with society. For many
years we have focused on selected Environmental,
Social, and Governance (ESG) issues, as this

SUSTAINABLE MOBILITY
2020 has indeed been a remarkably different
year, both for us at Uno-X Energi, and the world
as a whole. Now we turn our gaze towards the
long-term goals that encompass us all throughout
the 2020’s. The forthcoming years will demand
an effort from us all in order to transform towards
lowering emissions and building more sustainable
business models.

OUR VALUES
1. We focus on our business idea
2. We keep a high business moral
3. We are committed to be debt-free
4. We encourage a winning culture
5. We have a positive and proactive mindset
6. We talk with each other, not about each other
7. The customer is our ultimate boss
8. We want our work to be enjoyable and
profitable

Our role is first and foremost to provide energy
for vehicles on the road, whether it is utility
and goods transport, public transport, busses,
emergency and municipal service vehicles,
private transport, etc. For Uno-X Energi, a world
in need of reduced emissions from road traffic,
translates into taking responsibility beyond our
core operations. Being a significant actor in both
the Danish and Norwegian markets we have
a major responsibility to provide sustainable
solutions for mobility.

Going forward, we aim to deliver the energy
demanded by the market, we acknowledge all
solutions that contribute to reduce emissions as
well as technologies that help to conserve and
protect the environment.
Today, however, the majority of the car fleet, both
in Denmark and Norway, consists of ICE vehicles –
that will still rely on liquid fuels in the foreseeable
future. To contribute to reducing emissions from
the fleet of ICE vehicles, from heavy-duty trucks
to passenger cars, our ambition is to gradually
replace all our fossil fuels with renewables by
2040. We are dependent on governmental policy
framework in order to achieve this ambition, and
managing climate change and environmental
issues, will be a pivotal part of Uno-X Energi`s
dialogue with decision-makers in the years to
come. We have already proven our capacity as a
vehicle for change by suspending all use of palm
oil and soy in our fuels. Uno-X Energi will focus
on being both transparent and ambitious in our
efforts to tackle climate change.
Our latest initiative is ecolabelled car wash. The
first car wash in Norway was built in December,
and more will be added to the network going
forward, both in Denmark and Norway. This is a
significant move in the right direction: exploring
all opportunities throughout our operations to
ensure sustainable solutions for mobility that
contribute to greener, environmentally friendly
communities and markets.
EQUALITY, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
We truly believe in the importance of promoting
an active and healthy lifestyle to contribute to a
more sustainable society. Our main commitment
is to cycling, and we`ve taken a momentous
step by establishing the first Norwegianowned professional cycling team for men. From

Vegar Kulset
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2021/2022 a female professional cycling team
will be added, securing gender equality in cycling
as a sport.
By owning and operating a professional cycling
team, we have our own cycling ambassadors on
the roads in several countries. We hope they will
inspire cycling, both as a mean of sustainable
transport as well as promoting a more active and
healthy lifestyle. Cycling, being an immensely
popular sport – both in our two home countries,
and abroad – has throughout 2020 delivered
great added value to our brand as part of our
market strategy: and I cannot wait to see more of
our red and yellow jerseys crossing the finish line
in the seasons to come.
Furthermore, Uno-X Energi is strongly
committed to our long-term partnership with
the organization MOT, who strengthens youth´s
robustness and quality of life. Together with
MOT, we believe in the power of examples.
And that role models, with a value-based moral
compass, can inspire youth and young people to
become more independent and responsible both
for themselves and others.

8
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A HEARTFELT THANKS´ TO OUR EMPLOYEES
Whatever the future holds, we already know
that the road ahead will challenge, inspire and
demand a lot of us – both as a company and as
part of communities throughout both Denmark
and Norway.
I would like to use this opportunity to give a
heartfelt thanks’ to all our employees, in our two
markets. It is through our employees and partners
that our values as a company comes to life, and
never more so than when times are tough. You
have delivered both in our operations and on our
values in the different year that we leave behind.
Going forward, together we will continue to
strive to deliver more sustainable solutions for
people on the road, whether it may be on a bike or
by car, transporting goods or families.

Vegar Kulset
CEO, Uno-X Energi
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/OUR BUSINESSES
•
•
•
•
•

UNO-X IN NORWAY

10

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

• Supplier and partner for YX dealers that own and operate
service stations
• Supplier and forecourt partner for YX 7-Eleven stations
• Self-service locations complement the network in the truck
market

Low-priced fuel
Nordic Swan Ecolabelled carwash at selected locations
Nationwide network of self-service stations
Efficient and convenient customer experience
Leading in its market

YX IN NORWAY

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020
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/OUR BUSINESSES
•
•
•
•
•

UNO-X IN DENMARK

12
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Low-priced fuel
Environmenally friendly carwash at selected locations
Nationwide network of self-service stations
Efficient and convenient customer experience
Leading in its market

• Fuel from self-service truck locations customized for the
transport sector
• Fuels for the commercial and agricultural markets
• Heating fuels for private and commercial customers

YX IN DENMARK
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/OUR BUSINESSES
• Uno-X Forsyning AS handles the comprehensive sourcing
and storage function in Norway, including the operation of
tank facilities along the Norwegian coast. In Denmark the
responsibility lies with YX Danmark A/S
• Distribution of liquid fuels is handled by the associated
company Skanol in both countries

SOURCING, STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION

14
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• High-quality Texaco lubricants on licence from Chevron
blended at the lubricants factory Scanlube, an associated
company
• Exports to Greenland, Iceland, the Faroes, Finland and the
three Baltics

LUBRICANTS IN DENMARK AND NORWAY

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020
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/ESG
INTRO

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE IN UNO-X ENERGI
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
issues has been key areas to succeed in for
Uno-X Energi for some time. We are committed
to develop and promote sustainable mobility.
As a part of operationalizing our mission, we
have chosen to focus on five United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

16
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In this report we will go in more detail and
outline our approach to ESG related topics.
This includes:

Uno-X Energi has decided on following up with
five specific UN Sustainable Development Goals.
These are the following:

ENVIRONMENTAL
• Being a driving force in order to reducing
emissions from the transport sector,
contributing actively to mitigate climate
change.
• Develop and promote solutions for
sustainable mobility to achieve greener,
more sustainable cities and communities.

Since 2019 we have worked to align our ESG
strategy with international standards. Our report
for 2020 has been prepared in accordance with
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards, Core
option. We have also incorporated reporting our
greenhouse gas emissions aligned with the GHG
Protocol to manage our climate impact both from
own operations and value chain.

SOCIAL
• Commitment to the promotion of a safe,
active and healthy lifestyle, both mentally
and physically - in our workforce and the
communities in which we operate.
• Contribute to closing the gender gap and
generate opportunities for gender equality
in the cycling sport.
GOVERNANCE
• Enable sustainable development in
environmental and social issues through
financial stability.
• Operationalizing a high business moral and
ethical corporate governance based on a
strong set of integrated values.

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020
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/DEFINING OUR
ESG PATHWAY

INFLUENCE IN THE VALUE CHAIN
The value chain for our products stretches from
producing and processing raw materials from
different parts of the world, to the consumption
of liquid fuels by private and business customers
in Denmark and Norway.

Our products covers the current societal needs
for mobility. However, refining, distribution and
usage of fossil fuels have a high environmental
footprint. We are committed to do our part
to minimize our value chain impact and hope
to provide only renewable liquid fuels to our
customers by 2040.

A STRONG VALUE-BASED COMPANY

Raw material
Fossile, bio,
synthetic

Transport to
refinery

Refining

Transport to fuel
depot

Fuel depot
operations

Upstream activities

OUR VALUES
1. We focus on our business idea
2. We keep a high business moral
3. We are committed to be debt-free
4. We encourage a winning culture
5. We have a positive and proactive mindset
6. We talk with each other, not about each other
7. The customer is our ultimate boss
8. We want our work to be enjoyable and
profitable

As a value-based company our corporate
culture is built upon a set of strong core values
integrated in the way we work. On our mission
to develop and promote solutions for sustainable
mobility our values are of great inspiration. The
ethical company culture all REITAN companies
incorporate is outlined in “Our Philosophy”conduct.
When defining an ESG pathway we have a holistic
view of our operations and value chain to identify
our key areas of sustainable impact.

To define our ESG pathway we have conducted
a stakeholder analysis based on our continuous
dialogue with both internal and external
stakeholders. This evaluation forms the basis of
our materiality assessment from stakeholders
that are either impacted by the company’s
operations, or have themselves impact on

Employees
and partners

• Environment, Health • Work environment
and Security (EHS)
• Training and
• Affordable prices
development
• Business strategy

Operations
Fuel stations and
car wash

Own operations

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Customers

Transport to
gas station/
end customer

Suppliers
• Fossil fuels
• Sustainable biofuels
• Advanced biofuels

Businesses and consumers

Downstream
activities

the company. The stakeholder analysis was
developed in close cooperation with the CEO´s
of all Uno-X Energi subsidiaries and has been
revised by the CEO of Uno-X Energi. The analysis
has further developed our understanding of our
stakeholder’s expectations and has impacted our
overall sustainability strategy development.

Authorities

Communities

• Reduction of
emissions from
transport sector

• Environment, health
and safety (EHS)
• Sustainable mobility

• Increase in biofuel
• No palm oil or soy in
mandate by blending
biofuels
more advanced
• Co-processing (fossil
biofuel (N)
and bio)
• Transition from
a biomandate to
a GHG savings
mandate (DK)

NGO´s

(Non governmental
organisations)

• Reduction of
emissions from
transport sector
• Sustainable biofuels
• Advanced biofuels
• No palm oil or soy in
biofuels
• Electrification (N)

• Power-to-X ( DK)
• Electrification (N)

18

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

19

Our defined material topics reflect the issues
that are a high priority for our stakeholders as
well as issues that are most material for Uno-X
Energi for a sustainable strategy development
and competitiveness. The assessment was done
in alignment with the framework of the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI), and included four
steps:

THE IDENTIFIED MOST
MATERIAL TOPICS IS
•
•
•
•
•

High business moral
Sustainable value chains
Energy consumption
Water consumption
Stakeholder engagement

High

These topics are interconnected with how we
interact and impact UN SDGs. The chosen goals,
3, 5, 11, 13 and 17 have been identified as the
most material to Uno-X Energi. Throughout the
report we disclose how our material issues and
SDGs is interconnected in our ESG pathway. Our
ability to invest and transform to a low-carbon
footprint is closely linked with the company’s
liquidity and financial stability within the markets
in which we operate. Therefore, Financial stability
is a material topic.

EHS
Sustainable moblity
Good health and well-being
Gender equality
Financial stability

Influence on stakeholders
assessments and decicions

Included in the assessment was the stakeholder
groups disclosed on page 19. The results from
the assessment have given Uno-X Energi insight
into which environmental, social, governance
and economical topics that we impact in our
operations that should be prioritized based on
stakeholder importance.

Higher

1. Issue identification through a benchmarking
of Uno-X Energi.
2. Issue prioritization based on stakeholder
assessment.
3. Internal stakeholder engagement to review,
refine and approve the material topics.
4. Disclose outcomes, develop targets
and material objectives in our external
communication.

Environment, Health and Safety (EHS)
Sustainable mobility
Good health and well-being
Gender Equality
Financial Stability

High

20
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Significance for Uno-X Energi´s social,
environmental and economic impacts

Higher
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/ ENVIRONMENT,
HEALTH AND
SAFETY

Risk
identification
and
evaluation
of
measurements is an important part of our
occupational health and safety work to stay
ahead of potential dangers. We handle hazardous
products which makes it essential to ensure our
employees always have the right skills, including
relevant courses and training. In our structure of
seven independent subsidiaries, all our companies
have their own tailored routines and procedures
for EHS to fully incorporate the necessary efforts
for each of the company’s needs. They report
regularly to the board with KPI’s. As required
from Danish authorities our companies in
TARGET

UN SDG Target 11.6. By 2030, reduce the
adverse per capita environmental impact of
cities, including by paying special attention
to air quality and municipal and other waste
management.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Maintaining Environment, Health and Safety
(EHS) standards is a rooted part of our business
operation as the safety of our customers,
employees and our communities is a main priority.
This is why we have defined EHS as a material
topic. It is crucial to provide a safe workplace
for our employees and we operate with a zeroaccident policy.
Due to the sector we operate in, there is risks that
lies in our business operations. Our industry must
follow comprehensive laws and regulations to

22
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Zero recordable injuries

Our shared ambition is no harm to people,
and no damage to the environment.
Denmark complete a survey regarding health,
well-being, safety and security on the workplace,
every third year. The employees are expected to
notify of their overall satisfaction regarding to
the occupational health and management system
they are covered by, if there is any improvement
areas and overall settlement of their mental and
physical health.

KPI’S
Fatalities
High consequence work-related injuries

2020
0
0

Figures include employees and workers controlled by the companies.

maintain a secure EHS practice. Uno-X Energi has
also included several ISO certifications for our
subsidiaries which is not a requirement. Uno-X
Forsyning maintains ISO 9001 certification
annually which covers all employees, and for
YX Smøreolje N/DK ISO 9001 and 14001 is
implemented. All employees are covered by the
EHS framework within each individual company.
Our workforce is also trained in emergency and
preparedness. For example, our subsidiary Uno-X
Forsyning reports regularly training on crisis
preparedness related to tank facilities.

The main types of work-related ill health have
been identified to potentially be neck and back
ailments. This category is not determined to
be a high consequence injury, however several
actions has been put in place to mitigate this risk.
Example is purchase of mouse trappers, electric
standing desks and a continuous dialogue with
employees’ to stay ahead of injuries and sickness.
Furthermore, promoting health in the workplace
our companies are offering a variety of physical
activity opportunities to inspire an active and
healthy life style.

NORDIC SWAN ECOLABELLED CAR
WASH
Aiming to contribute to more sustainable mobility
our subsidiary, Uno-X Norge, has expanded their
environmental effort establishing Nordic Swan

Ecolabelled (Svanemerket) car wash in Norway.
A pilot project has been opened in Elverum.
Authorities report the environmental issues when
individuals wash their cars at home, releasing
hazardous contaminants in wash wastewater.
The toxic water ends up in our municipal sewer
system which has negative effects in our local
ecosystem. By our car wash initiative, we aim
to contribute to an eco-friendlier solution. The
Nordic Swan Ecolabelled car wash uses Nordic
Swan Ecolabelled detergents, is 90 % better
treated for hazardous wastewater, and the water
consumption is reduced by 75 % compared
to a normal car wash. We are planning for
ecofriendly carwash at selected Uno-X locations
in both Denmark and Norway to contribute to
sustainable mobility in our communities and
cities.

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020
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BIOFUELS

/TOWARDS
SUSTAINABLE
MOBILITY
UN SDG Target 11.6. By 2030, reduce the
adverse per capita environmental impact of
cities, including by paying special attention
to air quality and municipal and other waste
management.

COMMITTED TO DEVELOP AND
PROMOTE SUSTAINABLE MOBILITY
We acknowledge that emissions from transport is
one of the main contributors to CO2 emissions,
thus adding to the challenges of climate change.
At Uno-X Energi we strive to be a part of the
solution, by contributing through reducing
emissions and enabling sustainable cities
and communities. Uno-X Energi is located in
hundreds of cities, towns, and communities all
over Denmark and Norway. Being committed to
develop and promote solutions for sustainable
mobility is one of our material topics.

24
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UN SDG Target 13.2. Integrate climate
change measures into national policies,
strategies and planning
UN SDG Target 17.14. Enhance policy
coherence for sustainable development.

As a significant actor in both the Danish
and Norwegian markets we have a major
responsibility to provide sustainable solutions to
both our markets. We aim to reduce emissions
from the fleet of Internal Combustion Engine
(ICE) vehicles, being the majority of the car fleet
for many years to come, by gradually replacing all
our fossil fuels with renewables. Today, biofuels
already play an important role in reducing
CO2 emissions. But our hands are not tied to
any singular solution. As we observe the rapid
development of an array of technologies we
closely monitor the advances being made within
synthetic fuels as well as other future solutions,
aiming to prioritize the best climate change
mitigating alternatives.

Our focus is to offer the best biofuels with the
least climate impact to our customers. Therefore,
our goal is to purchase a higher blend of advanced
biofuels than required. In addition, we have a zero
tolerance policy on usage of palm oil or soy in our
bio blends, to prevent deforestation.

Denmark and Norway have established
mandates regulating the amount of biofuel
the government require the fuel industry to
blend in liquid fuels to obtain national emission
targets within transport. At the same time these
requirements set a maximum on what volumes of
biofuel our companies can blend without losing
competitiveness in our markets. This is a direct
consequence of biofuels being more expensive
than fossil fuels. We believe renewable liquid
fuels play an essential part in order to combat
climate change in the speed and manner required
to gain quick results.

Uno-X Forsyning AS employee

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020
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FEEDSTOCK AND ORIGIN

The mandates profile:
NORWAY

JULY-DEC 2020

JAN-JUN 2020

2019

Overall mandate

24,5 %

22,3 %

20,0 %

12,0 %

Advanced biofuel

9,0 %

6,1 %

4,0 %

2,25 %

DENMARK

2021

2020

2019

Overall mandate

7,6 %

7,6 %

5,75 %

Advanced biofuel

0,3 %

0,15 %

Only volumes used in road traffic are covered
by the bio mandates in both countries and
exclude the use in construction and agriculture.
The bio mandate in Denmark is calculated
based on energy content of fuels, whilst
the mandate in Norway is based on volume.
Advanced biofuel is counted double in fulfilling
the mandate, in both countries. Denmark/

26
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In 2020 we have achieved a biofuel blend above
12 % volume (21 % if we include double-counting
effect) in Norway, and over 70 % of the total blend
was advanced biofuels. In Denmark we achieved
7,6 % in energy content. The ambition is to
continue increase the share of advanced biofuels
in both petrol and diesel sales, still securing palm
oil-free biofuel purchases, hence minimizing the
risk of deforestation.

70,3
%
Russia
South 4,7 % Europe
America
14,6 %
1,7 %

Origin
2020

ad
va
n

Rapeseed
18,0 %

North
America
79 %

Wheat 0,3
Sugar cane 1,7 %
Sugar beet 0,1 %
%

Corn
9,6 %

Feedstock
2020

Animal*
fats
55,8 %

Talloil
6,8 %

Used
cooking oil
7,7 %
*Animal fats
EU category 1, inedible
for humans and animals.

DENMARK 2020
19,2
%
North
America
%
Russia 8,9
7,1 %

Origin
2020

Europe
83,9 %

Other
cereals
0,6 %
Barley
4,0 %

Sugar
beet
18,4 %

Wheat
11,5 %
Corn
8,1 %

ad
va
n

Animal fats*
11,5 %

Feedstock
2020

d
ce

As required by the European Union (EU),
Denmark has implemented the EU’s Fuels Quality
Directive (FQD). This requires a saving of Well
to Wheel emissions of 6 % in 2020, measured
against 2010 levels. The requirements states
that the use of credits from Upstream Emission
Reductions (UERs) is valid. YX and Uno-X in
Denmark meets the Danish annually bio mandate
of 7,6 %. The bio volume blended corresponds to
3,34 %. The rest of the requirements is covered
by purchased UER credits to fulfil the 6 % Well to
Wheel emission reduction target.

EU separates 2nd generation biofuels and
advanced biofuels. Both categories count
double, but the advanced-label is limited to
waste and residue, categorised as inedible. As
a consequence, animal fats and used coocking
oils are not categorised as advanced in
Denmark, hence the relatively low mandate
for advanced biofuel.

NORWAY 2020

d
ce

2021

Biomass fraction of
industrial waste 7,6 %
Used cooking oil 0,1 %
Rapeseed
38,2 %
*Animal fats
EU category 1, inedible
for humans and animals.
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GOVERNMENT
DIALOGUE
UN SDG Target 13.2. Integrate climate
change measures into national policies,
strategies and planning

UN SDG Target 17.14. Enhance policy
coherence for sustainable development.

We believe that a constructive and close dialogue
with governing bodies in both Denmark and
Norway is essential in order to achieve our
ambition of selling only renewable energy
by 2040. Through contributing in securing
essential regulations favouring technologically
neutral solutions that reduces emissions from
the transport sector, Uno-X Energi has a role to
play by delivering a strong, progressive message
from the energy and fuel industry. We already
have a solid and proven track-record being a
vehicle for change. For example, by eliminating
all use of palm oil and soy in our products we’ve
taken a firm stance against deforestation. We
will continuously aim towards reaching our
ambition of only renewable liquid fuels by 2040;
both politically and through actions in our own
operations.

DENMARK
Our work with different governing bodies in
Denmark has been in alignment with the national
fuel industry association Drivkraft Danmark,
which has achieved decisive results. The Danish
government has decided to implement a GHG
reduction mandate from 2022, also including
indirect land use change (ILUC) effects from
2025. By the new regulations palm- and soybased biofuels are excluded, and limits are set
regarding the use of biofuels based on animal
fats and used cooking oil. We believe a GHG
reduction mandate where several technologies
reducing emissions will count, instead of a bio
mandate where only biofuels count, will be a
better framework to enable faster and more
cost-effective reductions of emissions from the
transport sector.

Committed to continuously develop and promote
solutions for sustainable mobility, we believe
Uno-X Energi greatly contributes to reducing
pollution and bettering air quality both in
Denmark and Norway. Climate change, and how
to tackle it, will be a pivotal part of Uno-X Energi`s
dialogue with decision-makers in the years to
come.

NORWAY
As in Denmark we align our government dialogue
in Norway with the national fuel industry
association Drivkraft Norge. We will continue
to work for a GHG reductions mandate also in
Norway, together with the industry association.
In our separate dialogue with decision makers and
NGO´s in Norway 2020 has been an important
year. Throughout 2020 our focus has been on
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altering regulations regarding sale of 100 %
biofuels. We strongly believe that the sale of 100
% biofuels to large private and public enterprises
has limited the highly sought after climate effects
with today’s regulations. Our proposed solution
is to secure the use of 100 % biofuels outside the
bio mandate. Basically, this alteration ensures
climate benefits in addition to the bio mandate.
We will continue this dialogue with Norwegian
authorities.

stimulating the establishment of charging points
for electric vehicles. We work towards adding
more chargers to our YX network (DODOs). These
independent dealers have essential knowledge
about the local markets and thus relevant insights
on when and how the implementation of chargers
should proceed. Regarding YX 7-Eleven locations,
a roll out of electric chargers is coordinated by
REITAN CONVENIENCE as the franchisee for
this network.

ELECTRIFICATION

Going forward, Uno-X Energi aims to deliver
the energy demanded by the market, while we
embrace all solutions that contribute to reduce
emissions as well as future technologies that
protect the environment.

In both countries our industry associations
Drivkraft Norge, Virke KBS and Drivkraft
Danmark are working to obtain regulations
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CLIMATE
ACCOUNTING
Uno-X Energi tracks all operational and value
chain emissions according to the GHG Protocol
and implemented a carbon accounting software
tool in 2020. Presented below are the aggregated
results from all our seven fully owned companies.

SCOPE 1 AND 2
Total tCO2e from all seven subsidiaries from 2019-2020:
CATEGORY
Scope 1 Transportation
Scope 2 Electricity
Scope 1 and 2 total

UNIT
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e

Our Scope 1 emissions includes all direct
emissions from our operations. Our direct
emissions are only related to our own company
cars and leased vehicles. However, our company
policy is to only purchase liquid fuels from our
own company’s energy stations. Emissions from
these purchases amounts to 272,2 tCO2e in
scope 1 in 2020, and is also included in our
scope 3 emissions. Our scope 2 emissions are
the indirect emissions from purchased electricity,

SCOPE 3
Total tCO2e from all seven subsidiaries from 2019-2020:
2020
272
854
1 126

2019
355
1 155
1 510

presented in location-based method from all our
operations. The total emissions from 2020 was in
Scope 1 and 2 was 1 125,7 tCO2e.
Our emissions in scope 1 and 2 is relatively low,
due to our structure of operations and the fact
that over time we have focused on increasing
our cost efficiency also contributing to reducing
emission e.g. by new technology and LED
lightning at our stations. From 2019 to 2020 we
have reduced 383,7 tCO2e, partly due to the
COVID-19 situation.

CATEGORY
Waste1
Business Travels
Well to Tank fossil fuels (WTT)
Well to Tank biofuels (WTT)
Usage of sold products2 (TTW)
Total Scope 3

Scope 3 includes indirect emissions related
to goods and services in the value chain. The
categories we included in this year’s reporting is
waste, business travels and the lifecycle of our
liquid fuels’ products. The emissions from our
products are divided into two categories. Well to
Tank (WTT) which is the refining and distribution
of our products, while Tank to Wheel (TTW)
1
2
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UNIT
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e

2020
49
280
967 579
117 497
4 035 248
5 120 653

2019
104
479
1 009 816
117 825
4 206 887
5 335 111

reflects the usage of our sold products by our
customers. The total cycle of these two categories
represents Well to Wheel (WTW) calculation. The
emission factors for fossil fuels are from DEFRA ,
while the emissions from biofuel is based on our
suppliers Proof of Sustainability Certificates. To
read further the methodology of our greenhouse
gas calculation, see page page 102.

Waste disposal is only reported from Uno-X Forsyning.
The calculations for liquid products are based on volume and not energy.
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CLIMATE
ACCOUNTING

CLIMATE
RISK

CONTINUED

ADDITIONAL METRICS:
CATEGORY
National emissions
Life Cycle Analysis
ILUC effect
LCA + ILUC
LCA + ILUC/volume

The national statistics in Denmark and Norway
calculate emissions based on use of sold
products (Tank to Wheel). Biofuels are set to zero
emissions. Our national emissions are calculated
accordingly.
The life cycle analysis highlights our emissions in a
lifecycle perspective from Well to Wheel (WTW).
This includes the refining, distribution, and usage
of our products, both from bio and fossil fuels.
The ILUC emission factors is based on
standardized factors from the EU Directive and
unfortunately do not differentiate biofuels in a
broader climate perspective. Our ILUC effect
emissions has also decreased due to the fact that
we are importing biofuels sourced from more
sustainable raw materials with less land use
change emissions. Biofuels sourced from soy or
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Stakeholders Risks

Materiality

Response

Employees,
Injuries,
customers
and
and society at accidents
spills
large

Safety for our employees, customers and
society at large is at our highest priority.

Our shared ambition is no harm to people, and no damage to the
environment – securing safety for employees, customers and
society at large through our subsidiaries´ strong EHS framework.

Crude oil price
and currency

One of our main objectives is to secure quality
fuels at competitive prices. Crude oil price and
currency is therefore of high importance for
our business in large.

Price and
access of
biofuels

Securing sustainable advanced biofuels
from our suppliers while still be able to offer
competitive rates to our customers is an
essential area. The price and access to biofuels
is of importance.

Short-term
climate policy

Both Denmark and Norway are committed
to the Paris Agreement set out to establish a
framework to avoid dangerous climate change
by limiting global warming to well below
2°C and pursuing efforts to limit it to 1.5°C.
This may lead to short-term and somewhat
unpredicable policies for the transport sector
in which we operate.

Suppliers

UNIT
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e
Kg CO2/ total sold litres
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2020
4 035 248
5 116 711
81 791
5 202 115
3,008

2019
4 206 887
5 334 527
125 938
5 460 466
3,067

palm oil has a greater carbon footprint than for
example the usage of rapeseed as a source, but
the ILUC effect remains the same from today’s
emission factors.
Our increased blending of advanced biofuels in
Norway this year partly explain the reduced ILUC
effect from 2019 to 2020. We believe that as the
demand for biofuels increases further efforts
needs to be put in place to account for its real
climate effect. As a part of implementing the GHG
mandate Denmark aims to develop national ILUC
factors, and the EU system is under development.
We encourage and support further research and
regulations on these topics to ensure biofuels is
sourced from the most sustainable raw materials
which the ILUC methodology can facilitate.

Climate and environmental risks are monitored by Uno-X
Energi. Evolvements and innovation within transport
technology puts the transportation sector in transition,
which is why it is essential for us to minimize risks and
maximize opportunities. In 2020 we mapped our risks
and opportunities based on the TCFD framework and
will further increase our alignment and integrate the
recommendations.

Authorities

Stakeholders Opportunities

Employees,
partners,
customers,
authorities,
NGOs and
society at
large

Develop and
promote
solutions for
sustainable
mobility

Materiality

We acknowledge that emissions from road
traffic is a main contributor to CO2 emissions
and climate change. Being a significant actor
in both the Danish and Norwegian markets
we have a major responsibility to provide
sustainable solutions to both our markets
which is why sustainable mobility is a material
topic.

We focus on growth and development in target segments
based on a focused company structure proven to be robust and
highly functional. Our ability to transform to a low-carbon
footprint is closely linked with the company’s liquidity, and
financial stability. Therefore, Financial stability is a material
topic.

Enabling a constructive and close dialogue with governing bodies
in both Denmark and Norway is essential in order to achieve our
ambition of selling only renewable energy by 2040.

Response
Transparency is essential regarding biofuels, as in all parts of our
operations. We aim to blend biofuels with the largest contribution
on reducing emissions. By eliminating palm oil and soy in we’ve
taken a firm stand against deforestation. Our ambition is to be
able to offer only renewable energy by 2040 through government
dialogue and actions in our own operations. We monitor market
and technology development aiming to enable ourselves to offer
the energy and infrastructure demanded by the transport sector
going forward.
Contributing to more sustainable mobility we plan a roll-out of our
Nordic Swan Ecolabelled carwash concept.
By our long term commitment to cycling our continued hope is to
popularize and inspire cycling, as a more sustainable form of
transportation and a good choice for exercising.

Promote good
health and
well-being

Promoting an active lifestyle to stay healthy,
both mentally and physically, is one of the
motives behind our long term commitment to
cycling, as well as being a committed partner
to the organisation MOT.

Our long term partnership with MOT supports young adults to
make well informed decisons regards to their mental and physical
health.

Gender
equality

Gender equality is one of our material topics
and we are continously looking at efforts on
how we can improve gender diversity in our
company as well as in society.

From 2021/2022 a female professional cycling team will be
added to our Uno-X Pro Cycling Team to enhance and drive more
opportunties for female cyclists. Regarding our employees we aim
to increase female representation in management.
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NORDIC SWAN
ECOLABELLED
CARWASH
Developing more sustainable mobility we plan a
roll-out of our Nordic Swan Ecolabelled carwash
concept in Norway. Our first carwash opened in
Elverum in march 2021.
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AMBASSADORS
FOR CYCLING
As an integrated part of the marketing strategy
in our subsidiary Uno-X Norge, a core focus area
has been, and continues to be cycling. Uno-X
Pro Cycling Team was established in 2016, and
by 2020 the team became the first of its kind as
a Norwegian UCI Pro Team for men. By owning
and operating Uno-X Team we are able to proudly
present our own cycling ambassadors on the
roads in several countries. Our continued hope
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is that these ambassadors will popularize and
inspire cycling, as a more sustainable form of
transportation and a good choice for exercising.
Towards sustainable mobility we promote cycling
as an important alternative for transportation,
being beneficial for both physical and mental
health and the environment.
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became the first of its kind as a Norwegian UCI
ProTeam for men. We underline the importance
of alternative transportation in the transition
to a low-carbon society, such as cycling, being
beneficial for both physical and mental health and
the environment.

/SOCIAL
ACTIONS
GOOD HEALTH, WELL-BEING AND GENDER EQUALITY

UN SDG Target 3.5 Strengthen the
prevention and treatment of substance
abuse, including narcotic drug abuse and
harmful use of alcohol.

GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
Every other seconds, a person between
the ages 30 to 70 years dies prematurely
from noncommunicable diseases (NCD’s) –
cardiovascular disease, chronic respiratory
disease, diabetes, or cancer1. We truly believe in
the importance of promoting active lifestyles to
not only contribute to a more sustainable society,
but also to mitigate the worlds’ intertwined

1
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UN SDG Target 5.1 End all forms of
discrimination against all women and girls
everywhere.

challenges within physical and mental health.
This is why Good health and well-being has been
defined as one of our material topics.
Uno-X Energi offers several social and physical
activities to ensure a holistic and healthy work
environment. Inspiring an active and healthy
lifestyle, is one of the key motives behind our
commitment to engage and promote sports.
Our core focus area has been, and continues
to be cycling. Our Uno-X Pro Cycling Team was
established in 2016, and by 2020 the team

Uno-X Energi wants to encourage the upcoming
generations to make individual, well-informed
decisions and strengthen their physical and
mental health. This is why we have chosen to be
in a partnership with the non-profit organization
MOT. MOT (Courage) promotes individual’s
resilience, independence and awareness that
leads to constructive relationships among
the youth, generating safe environments and
sustainable communities.
We believe that role models can be a strong
inspiration for all of us, promoting choices that
benefit both physical and mental health. An
example is our subsidiary Uno-X Norge which is
a main partner with cross-country skier Johannes
Høsflot Klæbo. A focus area of the partnership is
to promote development and performance in a
context of strong values and a mindset for good
mental and physical health. Another example is
through our subsidiary YX Norge. They have a
collaboration with Norway’s Biathlon Association
(NSSF) and MOT, where the biathletes Johannes
Thingnes Bø and Ingrid Landmark Tandrevold are
promoting “The biathlete with courage award”.
Several young individuals across Norway receives
an award based on being an inspiring role model
within their communities and contributing to a
positive team culture.

GENDER EQUALITY
At the core of the REITAN-mindset lies the belief
in the individual. Employment in Uno-X Energi
is based on an assessment of competence and

Johannes Høsflot Klæbo

Foto: Scanpix

www.undp.org
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personality, regardless of gender, age, religion,
sexual orientation, or ethnic origin. A prerequisite
for working at REITAN is that you have a positive
and proactive mindset. Although our values
represent equality, we still need to be conscious
to provide the right measurements and efforts to
ensure we walk the talk. This is why incorporating
gender equality as one of our material topics will
ensure our efforts is maximized on this area. We
are looking into efforts on how we can improve
the female share within our management
positions2. In addition, we are looking into efforts
on how we can impact society. As Uno-X Energi
is major promoter of cycling we want to secure
more opportunities for women in pro cycling as
the gender pay gap and lack of cycling events
diminish women’s opportunities in the sport.
Therefore we have decided to expand our current
cycling team with a designated female Pro Cycling
team. Securing equal terms for women and men.
The setup of a women team will be completed
within 2021/2022.

Ingrid Tandrevold
2

40

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

Youth with MOT

Female share figures included on page 3
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/DIRECTORS
REPORT

In addition, Uno-X Energi AS has a 50 % interest
in the Danish company Skanol A/S and a 50
% interest in the Swedish company Scanlube
AB. YX Danmark A/S also holds a 50 % interest
in Samtank A/S, a storage company for liquid
products operating in Denmark.
Uno-X Energi AS and its Norwegian operations
are headquartered at Lysaker outside Oslo,
relocating to Ensjø in Oslo in may 2021. The
Danish operations are headquartered in Søborg,
Copenhagen.

UNO-X ENERGI

VISION
The vision of Uno-X Energi is to be the most
efficient and value-driven fuel, lubricants and car
wash company in the Nordic region.

Uno-X Energi is one of four concept
companies in REITAN HANDEL,
along with REMA 1000 Norway,
REMA 1000 Denmark and
REITAN CONVENIENCE,
- owned by REITAN.
OPERATIONS
Uno-X Energi is located in Denmark and Norway,
specialising in marketing and sale of fuels,
lubricants and car wash for commercial and
private customers.
Uno-X Energi has established a corporate
structure proven to be robust and wellfunctioning. Today, Uno-X Energi consists of
seven financially strong operating companies:
Uno-X Danmark A/S, YX Danmark A/S and YX
Smøreolie A/S in Denmark, and Uno-X Norge
AS, YX Norge AS, Uno-X Forsyning AS and YX
Smøreolje AS in Norway.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by
the European Union. The separate financial
statements of the parent company have been
prepared in accordance with provisions of
simplified IFRS, provided in the regulations to
the Norwegian Accounting Act, section 3-9,
subsection 5.
RESULTS
Uno-X Energi’s net revenues was NOK 10,138
million in 2020, an reduction from NOK 12,329
million in 2019. The product volume sold was
1,768 (1,000 m³), compared to 1,854 (1,000 m³)
in 2019. The main reason for the decrease was
the COVID-19 pandemic. The average Brent
Blend price was USD 43 per barrel in 2020,
compared to USD 64 per barrel in 2019. The
oil price started the year at about 66 USD per
barrel and was significantly reduced when the
pandemic broke out. It was at times about 20

USD per barrel. In the second half of the year, the
price increased again to about USD 52 per barrel
at the end of the year. This resulted in total loss
on inventory (FIFO) of NOK 231 million for the
year (gain of NOK 34 million). Earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) amounted to NOK 1,160 million (NOK
832 million), while operating profits were NOK
806 million (NOK 512 million). Profit before
income tax was NOK 815 million (NOK 444
million). Profit for the year amounted to NOK
623 million (NOK 356 million).
BALANCE SHEET AND LIQUIDITY
Total assets as at 31 December 2020 were NOK
4,964 million (NOK 5,067 million), while liquid
assets as at 31 December 2020 were NOK 92
million (NOK 57 million). Net interest bearing
debt ex. lease liabilities was NOK 231 million
(NOK 147 million), and investments in noncurrent assets were NOK 409 million (NOK 316
million). Equity at the end of the year was NOK
1,639 million (NOK 1,595 million), which gives an
equity ratio of 33 % (31 %).
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Cash flow from operations amounted to NOK
1,275 million (NOK 845 million). EBITDA was
NOK 1,160 million (NOK 832 million). The
difference between cash flow from operations
and EBITDA is mainly due to changes in working
capital and investments. Changes in working
capital resulted in a cash flow of NOK 127
million (NOK 40 million), while net cash used
for investment activities amounted to NOK 418
million (NOK 339 million). The group has a solid
financial position. In the opinion of the board
of directors, the financial statements provide a
true and fair view of the company´s operations
and financial status. The board confirms that the
financial statements have been prepared on the
assumption of a going concern.
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FINANCIAL RISK
Uno-X Energi has its core business in trading
of oil products, and is consequently exposed to
risk relating to oil price changes. Liquid reserves
and available credit facilities are of considerable
importance to the group´s liquidity situation. The
limits of the credit facilities available to the group
vary according to its outstanding receivables
and inventories. Consequently, its access to debt
financing varies largely with the fluctuations
in its need for working capital. The group’s
turnover consists of sales to private, commercial
and industrial customers, and to dealers that
own and operate stations belonging to the YX
brand. The group has established routines for
credit assessment and continuous follow-up of
individual customers. In addition, the Danish
subsidiaries has reduced its risk for losses on
accounts receivable through the use of credit
insurance. Historically, defaults and losses on
accounts receivable have been low, and the group
has not realised major losses in 2020.
In 2020, the group experienced a loss of NOK
6 million (NOK 30 million) on its accounts
receivable. In the Danish subsidiaries the
procurement of oil products is mainly settled in
USD. The procurement of oil products in Norway
is mainly settled in NOK. Uno-X Energi seeks to
limit exposure related to ownership interests in
foreign operations by adjusting the composition
of the debt portfolio to reflect the importance of
the individual currency and country in relation to
the group´s total activities.
Fossil fuel prices saw a steep decline as a
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
effect of lock down in most countries during the
1st quarter of 2020, but then steadily recovered
during the following three quarters. On the
other hand, biofuel prices remained relatively
steady during last year, with the exception of
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ethanol which saw a historical peak during 2nd
and 3rd quarter as a result of increased demand
for health and pharmaceutical purposes. Note
4 – Financial risk management provides a more
detailed description of the group´s financial risk
and sensitivity to changes in oil prices, interest
levels and currency rates.

BUSINESS IN NORWAY
SELF-SERVICE STATIONS
The nationwide network of Uno-X branded selfservice stations in Norway offers the customer
an efficient and convenient experience and the
lowest priced motor fuels. At the end of the year
the network consisted of 180 stations.
During 2020 Uno-X Norge has strengthened its
position as market leader in its segment, and in
2021 the company will continue to invest in its
portfolio.
Uno-X Norge has further developed its
commitment to cycling in 2020, both as an
integrated marketing strategy and to inspire to
more cycling in daily life. Uno-X Pro Cycling Team
was established in 2016, and 2020 was the first
year as a Norwegian UCI ProTeam for men. In
2021/22 Uno-X Norge will complete the setup
by establishing a professional women’s team on
equal terms.
FULL-SERVICE STATIONS AND TRUCK
STATIONS
With the business areas YX, YX 7-Eleven (both
full-service) and YX Truck (self-service) YX Norge
aims to be the best and most efficient supplier
and partner for dealers that own and operate
full-service stations. The company has a wellfunctioning cooperation with the dealers through
YX Dealers’ Forum with a chain of 200 YX stations

by the end of the year, and a strong cooperation
with Reitan Convenience Norway (7-Eleven) with
a chain of 94 YX 7-Eleven stations at year-end.
YX is also well positioned in the transport
sector with 35 YX Truck self-service locations
complementing the network in the truck market.
To strengthen the YX brand, a long-term
sponsorship agreement was established with
NSSF (Norway´s Biathlon Association) in 2017, as
well as individual agreements with two of NSSFs
top biathletes. Together with MOT and NSSF,
YX has honoured young biathletes with courage
that stands out as role models in their respective
local communities. (“The biathlete with courage
award”).
All in all, YX Norge is well positioned for the future
with a stronger market presence for both private
and professional customers.
SOURCING AND STORAGE
Uno-X Forsyning AS is responsible for sourcing,
storing and supplying transport fuels on behalf of
Uno-X Energi AS in Norway.
The company’s main objective is to secure reliable
supply of transport fuels at competitive rates
to help its customers win in the marketplace.
This is achieved by collaborating with strategic
partners to safely supply the right quality fuels at
the most competitive prices across the country.
It is precisely this partnership that enabled
a successful management of product supply,
despite the challenging environment under the
pandemic threat of COVID-19.
Uno-X Forsyning operates its own terminals
along the coast of Norway and provides access to
other terminals through third party commercial
agreements. In 2020, the company increased
the share of sustainable biofuels in its product
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mix and sourced the majority of its biofuels
from waste and residue feedstock, free from
palm oil. As a result, the company contributes to
significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions of
the Norwegian road transport sector.
The company continued in 2020 to be the main
sponsor of the Norwegian national gymnastics
team, with the intention to promote healthy
physical activity and inspire exceptional
performance.

BUSINESS IN DENMARK
SELF-SERVICE STATIONS
The nation-wide network of self-service stations
in Denmark offers lowest-priced motor fuels at
easily accessible locations, and some selected
locations offer car wash services. At year-end, the
company had 242 stations, 138 Uno-X stations
and 104 Bonus stations.
111 Uno-X stations have been upgraded with
a new design focusing on user-friendliness and
safety for the customer. A continuous effort
to modify and restructure the network going
forward will enable the company to operate at a
lower cost level and strengthen its position in the
Danish market.
As a marketing strategy and to inspire more
everyday cycling Uno-X Danmark has further
developed its commitment to sponsorships in
cycling during the year. Now also sponsoring a
female junior team, Team Rytger.
TRUCK STATIONS, COMMERCIAL FUELS
AND HEATING PRODUCTS
YX Danmark mainly serves the Danish corporate
market and delivers some heating fuel to the
private market.
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With the objective of making the YX brand a
strong symbol of the company’s commitment to its
customers, YX focus on three market segments:
YX Ervherv (commercial fuels), YX Landbrug
(agriculture) and YX Fyringsolie (heating fuel). YX
Erhverv is a major supplier to Danish companies
and transport, and has the largest dedicated truck
network in the country, counting 74 locations by
year end.

for its customers representing a wide range of
industries from marine, contractor, agriculture to
a small workshop.
The company offers the market the high-quality
Texaco lubricants produced at the associated
company Scanlube AB, synthetic speciality
lubricants from Anderol, and environmentally
adapted lubricants from Panolin. Also
contributing to the high level of quality is the
Danish laboratory, offering product analyses.

YX wants to contribute to the renewable energy
transition and offers 100 % HVO (biofuel) from
two of its YX Truck locations and were the first
to do this in Denmark. This product has a CO2
displacement of at least 70 % and is free of palm
oil.

DISTRIBUTION IN DENMARK AND
NORWAY
SKANOL A/S
The cooperation with the distribution company
Skanol A/S, an associated company in the group,
is crucial both in Norway and in Denmark. With
its professional route planning function and
tanker fleet for transportation, Skanol ensures
that all Uno-X Energi companies can offer their
customers the right products, at the right place
and at the right time.

All in all, YX is well positioned to meet the strong
competition in its markets going forward.
SOURCING AND STORAGE
YX Danmark A/S handles sourcing and supplying
of fuel products to both YX Danmark A/S and
Uno-X Danmark A/S. Sourcing and supply are
vital functions, and significant demands are
made regarding availability, product quality and
competitive prices. Storage is handled by Samtank
A/S, a company owned 50 % by YX Danmark A/S.

CULTURE
REITAN aims to be recognised as the most valuedriven company, and the REITAN - mindset is
based on eight values and eleven key success
factors. Value-based leadership has been crucial,
building a strong corporate culture in all business
areas of Uno-X Energi.

LUBRICANTS IN DENMARK AND
NORWAY
The activity in the two YX lubrication companies
includes sales, marketing, technical support,
distribution and storage of lubricating oil
products throughout the counties. In addition, the
company in Denmark handle sales and delivery to
Greenland, Iceland, the Faroe Islands, Finland,
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.
Local partnerships allow the companies to meet
customer expectations for service, product and
logistics. YX aims to provide the best service

VALUES
1. We focus on our business idea
2. We keep a high business moral
3. We are committed to be debt-free
4. We encourage a winning culture
5. We have a positive and proactive mindset
6. We talk with each other, not about each other
Youth with MOT

Foto: MOT
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7. The customer is our ultimate boss
8. We want our work to be enjoyable and
profitable

Based on a common set of values the cooperation
with MOT is an important part of all internal
culture development as well.

is ISO 9001:2015 certified, while YX Smøreolje,
both in Denmark and in Norway, is ISO 9001:2015
and ISO 14001:2015 certified.

VALUE-BASED CULTURE
Based on the REITAN - mindset Uno-X Energi
places considerable trust in its subsidiaries, which
subsequently organize their operations in a way
that makes the distance between responsibility,
authority and operative implementation as short
as possible. Uno-X leaders exercise value-based
leadership defined as “developing great people
who take action through trust”. An Uno-X leader
is clear about expectations and combines it with
trust. Then, by being an inspirational performance
coach, Uno-X leaders enable people to make good
decisions based on a strong overall understanding
of the business.

DIVERSITY, AND EQUALITY
Uno-X Energi emphasizes a positive attitude
towards people, healthy relations and equal
opportunities for all. When recruiting, training
or reorganizing, the most important criteria are
skills, background and potential, disregarding age,
gender or ethnic origins. Diversity and equality is
a natural part of the dialogue with employees and
employee representatives.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (ESG)
Uno-X Energi identifies as a strong value-based
company and is committed to develop and
promote solutions for sustainable mobility. For
many years, the company has focused on key
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
issues, and has since 2019 worked to align its
ESG strategy with international standards. This
includes to report on Uno-X’s performance
on selected United Nations Sustainability
Development Goals (UN SDG) as an annual
procedure, and in 2020 the company correlated
their reporting with the Global Reporting
Initiative framework (GRI). In addition, to manage
climate impact both from own operations
and value chain emissions, the company has
established a carbon accounting report aligned
with the GHG Protocol. For further information
see the ESG part of this Annual and ESG report.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS
Uno-X Energi seeks talented and dedicated
people, and the organizational structure supports
development and growth for the individual
employee, based on the REITAN-mindset.
As part of the continuous work to maintain
a strong value-based culture, Uno-X Energi
completes tailormade development initiatives
for companies, groups, and individuals. Uno-X
leaders also participate in programmes at
REITAN´s Value Academy for leaders.

MOT
Since 2010 Uno-X Energi has been a committed
partner to the organization MOT. The main
objective of MOT is to strengthen youth’s
robustness and quality of life. Their mental
and physical health and well-being. Working
proactively MOT is a major contributor to society,
inspiring youth to take good care of themselves
and others, being good role models.
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EMPLOYEES
At the end of 2020, Uno-X Energi had 157
permanent employees. 35 % women and 65 %
men. 78 employees are located in Norway and 79
in Denmark. The overall sick leave including long
term sick leave was 3,1 %. Lost time injuries have
not been registered in 2020. The group of CEOs
leading the Uno-X Energi companies consists of
six men.
Due to the COVID 19 pandemic, 2020 has been
a somewhat challenging year. All Uno-X Energi
companies have nevertheless functioned well,
and the board would like to extend its thanks to all
employees for a positive and proactive approach
and good performance in 2020.
EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
Uno-X Energi business activities are based
on trading and marketing of transport fuels
and lubricants in Denmark and Norway. This
requires special expertise and significant capital
investments in product storage, handling, and
distribution. The company has a high degree of
competency in product operations and has a
strong focus on compliance with high safety and
environmental standards. Uno-X Forsyning AS

OUTLOOK
THE CORONA PANDEMIC
In March 2020 the coronavirus (COVID-19)
hit worldwide, classified as a pandemic by
WHO (World Health Organization). To contain
the outbreak and prevent an explosive rise in
cases that would overwhelm the hospitals, the
government in both Denmark and Norway took
action to contain the virus by enforcing social
distancing, as many countries all over the world.
The restrictions imposed by the authorities
led to reduced fuel sales in both Denmark and
Norway for a period. As the restrictions gradually
was eased Uno-X companies again experienced
normal levels of fuel demand.
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The 2020 annual report shows that both
COVID-19 and the extremely volatile oil price
impacted the financial figures in different ways. A
COVID-19 effect is also present so far in 2021.

To reduce emissions from ICE cars, being the
majority of the car fleet for many years to come,
the goal is to gradually replace all fossil fuel with
renewables.

Uno-X Energi expect another year of stable value
creation for its stakeholders in 2021.

Furthermore, Uno-X Energi aims to deliver the
energy demanded by the market going forward,
acknowledging all solutions contributing to
reduce emissions as well as technologies that
help to conserve and protect the environment.

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS
There is always uncertainty regarding the future.
A slowly decline in the market for liquid fuels are
expected due to electrification of the car fleet for
private transport. Fuel efficiency is increasing,
and average fuel consumption per car is declining,
however, these trends are partly offset by an
increasing population.

In the years ahead, Uno-X Energi will continue
to focus on growth and development in target,
segments based on the REITAN-mindset and a
focused company structure proven to be robust
and highly functional.

Regarding commercial road transport the market
in the Nordic region still give reason to expect
stability in the market for liquid fuels.

Oslo, 28th of May 2021
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From the left: Johannes Høsflot Klæbo (Norway), Aleksandr Bolsjunov (Russia) and Emil Iversen (Norway) just before the finish line at men´s 50-kilometres race at the Nordic World Ski Championships 2020. 
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Consolidated Comprehensive income
Note

2020

2019

Operating revenue incl. excise duties

18,816

21,001

Excise duties

-8,678

-8,672

Amounts in NOK million

Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating revenue

6

10,138

12,329

Other income

7

15

14
-5

Net other gains (losses)

Uno-X Energi

8

-1

Share of profit (loss) of associates

16

13

-1

Cost of goods sold

20

-8,042

-10,586

Employee benefit expense

9

-239

-202

Other operating expenses

10, 15

-724

-717

1,160

832

EBITDA
Amortisation and impairment intangible assets

13

-32

-25

Depreciation and impairment property, plant and equipment

14

-177

-166

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

15

-145

-129

806

512

EBIT (Operating profit)
Net interest income (expenses)
Interest expenses lease liabilities
Other financial income (expenses)

11

-8

-7

11, 27

-27

-29

11

44

-32

9

-68

815

444

-192

-88

623

356

-4

-13

-4

-13

Net finance income (expenses)
Profit before income tax expenses
Income tax expenses

12

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement of pension liabilities

9

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement
Cash flow hedges

23

-32

10

Currency translation differences

23

57

-5

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement

25

5

Other comprehensive income

21

-8

644

348

Total comprehensive income for the year
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Balance Sheet at 31 December - Assets
Amounts in NOK million

Note

Balance Sheet at 31 December - Equity and liabilities
2020

2019

Non-current assets

Amounts in NOK million

Note

2020

2019

Equity

Deferred income tax assets

12

118

119

Share capital

22

100

100

Intangible assets

13

176

175

Share premium reserve

22

340

340

13

13

Other reserves

23

191

166

Investment property
Property, plant and equipment

14

1,572

1,338

Right-of-use assets

15

689

606

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

16

151

116

Financial investments

18

20

18

Trade and other receivables

19

15

17

2,754

2,402

Total non-current assets

Retained earnings

1,008

989

Total equity

1,639

1,595

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

12

1

5

9

68

67

Non-current lease liabilities

27

555

488

Derivative financial instruments

18

9

-

Provisions for other liabilities

24

288

268

921

828

Pension liabilities
Current assets
Inventories

20

813

1,015

Trade and other receivables

19

1,305

1,593

Cash

21

Total current assets

92

57

2,210

2,665

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings

Total assets

4,964

5,067

25, 26

324

207

Current lease liabilities

27

145

147

Current income tax liabilities

12

83

52

Provisions for other liabilities

24

33

26

Trade and other payables

30

1,819

2,212

Total current liabilities

2,404

2,644

Total liabilities

3,325

3,472

Total equity and liabilities

4,964

5,067

Oslo, 28th May 2021
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Equity
Amounts in NOK million

Equity at 1 January 2019
Profit for the year 2019

Statement of Cash Flow
Share capital
and premium
440

Other
reserves
162

Retained
earnings
945

Total
equity
1,547

-

-

356

356

Remeasurement of pension liabilities

-

-

-13

-13

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement

-

-

-13

-13

Cash flow hedges

-

10

-

10

Currency translation differences

-

-6

1

-5

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement

-

4

1

5

Other comprehensive income

-

4

-12

-8

Total comprehensive income

-

4

344

348

Dividends
Equity at 31 December 2019

Profit for the year 2020

-

-

-300

-300

440

166

989

1,595

-

-

623

623

Remeasurement of pension liabilities

-

-

-4

-4

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement

-

-

-4

-4

Cash flow hedges

-

-32

-

-32

Currency translation differences

-

57

-

57

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement

-

25

-

25

Other comprehensive income

-

25

-4

21

Total comprehensive income

-

25

619

644

Dividends

-

-

-600

-600

440

191

1,008

1,639

Equity at 31 December 2020

Note

Amounts in NOK million

2020

2019

815

444

Cash generated from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Impairment and amortisation, intangible fixed assets
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment
Loss (profit) on disposals of property, plant and equipment

32

25

177

166

8

5

5

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

15

145

129

Net unrealised gains (losses) on financial investments

8
11

-3

-

-9

37

-13

-1

-1

-

Inventories

202

-219

Trade and other receivables

290

72

-365

187

Cash generated from operating activities

1,275

845

Cash generated from operating activities

1,275

845

-35

-36

Finance costs - net
Share of profit from associates
Foreign exchange losses(gains) on operating activities

8

Change in working capital (excluding the effects of acqusition and exchange differences on consolidation)

Trade and other payables

Interest paid

11

Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

-154

-92

1,086

717

-303

Cash flows from investment activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

14

-382

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

14

11

15

Purchase (net) of intangible assets

13

-27

-10

Purchase of associates and joint ventures

16

Net cash flow from investment activities

-20

-41

-418

-339

Cash flows from financing activities
Net foreign exchange gains (losses), financing activities

-

-1

Payments on lease debt

11

-150

-130

Dividends paid to owners of parent

-600

-300

Net cash used in financing activities

-750

-431

-82

-53

Net (decrease)/increase in cash

Cash at 1 January

21

-150

-97

Cash at 31 December

21

-232

-150

The group's financing solution is classified as an overdraft facility, this scheme is included in cash in this statement.
As of 31 December 2020 Uno-X Energi has unused credit facilities of NOK 1 076 million (NOK 1 193 million as of 31 December 2019).
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Uno-X Energi is a group consisting of the trade companies Uno-X Danmark
A/S (Denmark), YX Danmark A/S (Denmark), YX Smøreolje (Norway and
Denmark), Uno-X Norge AS (Norway), YX Norge AS (Norway) and Uno-X
Forsyning AS (Norway).

is 100 percent owned by REITAN HANDEL AS. ODD REITAN PRIVATE
HOLDING AS is the group’s ultimate parent company. REITAN HANDEL
AS’ head office is located at Lade Gaard in Trondheim. Uno-X Energi AS is
included in the consolidated financial statements of REITAN HANDEL AS.

The parent company, Uno-X Energi AS is registered and domiciled in
Norway, and its head office is located at Lysaker, Bærum. Uno-X Energi AS

The consolidated financial statements of Uno-X Energi AS were approved
by the company’s Board of Directors on 28 May 2021.

Note 2 – Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out in the respective notes, more
general principles are discussed below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Uno-X Energi AS have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value
through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
the use of estimates. Furthermore, the application of accounting principles
requires management to exercise judgment. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4 - Critical accounting estimates and jugdments.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the going
concern assumption.
2.2 Consolidation
2.2.a Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

2.2.b Associates
Associates are companies in which the group has significant influence but
not control. Significant influence normally exists where the group has
between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are included using the equity method.
2.3 Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Norwegian krone (NOK), which is the
group’s presentation currency.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to working capital are
classified as operating profit/loss. Currency items related to financing
activities are included in net financial income (expenses).
2.4 New and amended standards adopted by the group
There are no new interpretations that have material effect on our financial
statements.
2.5 New standards and amendments to / interpretations of existing
standards that are not yet effective and not have been early adopted by
the group
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective
that are expected to have any material impact on our financial statements.
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Note 3 – Financial risk management

Note 3 – Financial risk management - continued

The group has its core operations in the market for sale, distribution and
marketing of petroleum products.
The group’s activities involve various financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest risk, floating interest risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management plan
focuses on the capital markets’ unpredictability and represents an attempt
to minimize potential negative effects on the group’s financial performance.
The board of directors approves the principles for overall risk management,
and provides guidelines for specific areas such as currency risk, credit risk,
use of financial derivatives and use of surplus cash.
3.1 Market risk
3.1.a Currency risk
The major part of the group’s operations is located in Scandinavia, and the
group is exposed to currency risk in several currencies. This risk is
particularly related to Danish kroner. Currency risk arises from future
trading transactions, assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet,
and net investments in international operations. This risk is still limited, as
our operational units mainly have their income and cost and keep their
accounts in local currency. The group has investments in foreign
subsidiaries, where net assets are exposed to currency risk in foreign
currency translation. We try to limit this exposure by ensuring an overall
debt portfolio composition that to the greatest possible extent is adapted to
the individual currency’s and country’s relative importance in the group’s
activities.
The effect of a 10 percent change against the Norwegian krone is shown in
the table below. The effects are calculated on the basis of the group’s net
assets (liabilities) in each currency at 31 December 2020.
Balance sheet items in currency

-10%

+ 10%

Currency gain (loss)
Effect on equity

-4
-123

4
123

3.1.b Price risk
The prices of oil products follow an international market. Because of
turnover in stock, we are exposed to price changes. It is company policy not
to hedge against such changes. This can have a significant impact on the
individual annual accounts.
Our products are subject to price changes due to fluctuations in the
international market and strong price competition in our market. With close
monitoring and frequent list price changes in line with cost developments,
we have managed to keep our margins at a satisfactory level..
3.1.c Interest risk
Since the group has no major interest-bearing assets, its profits and cash
flows from operating activities are mainly independent of fluctuations in the
market interest rates.

3.3 Liquidity risk
The group operates in a market with high turnover. Cash flows are high and
relatively stable, but volatile within a week/month. The group manages its
liquidity risk by ensuring a sufficient amount of cash in combination with
sufficient headroom on its undrawn borrowing facilities.
Management monitors the group’s liquidity reserves (consisting of various
borrowing facilities (note 25) and cash (note 21)) through rolling forecasts
based on expected cash flow. Management follows its liquidity reserves
separately for each main currency (NOK and DKK).
The table below specifies the group’s borrowings and net-settled derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groups based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances with less than 12 months maturity equal the balance sheet
amounts, as the discounting effect is insignificant.
31 December 2020

<1 yr

1-2 yr

2-5 yr

>5 yr

Total

Borrowings
Accounts payable and
other debts

324
1,819

-

-

-

324
1,819

Sum

2,143

-

-

-

2,143

3.4 Risk related to financing and capital structure
The group’s ambition regarding financing and capital structure is based on
Reitangruppen’s value principle no. 3: “We shall be debt-free.” This entails
that the parent company should be debt-free, while the group seeks an
optimal business solution within the framework of appropriate risk
management.
This value principle is operationalised by the board of directors in REITAN,
who has established decision rules for each individual business area. The
decision rules define the scope for financing alternatives and capital
structure. The decision rule for Uno-X is that its debt should not exceed 1.5
times EBITDA. Financing is resolved within each individual business area, as
long as the capital structure is within the scope defined by the decision
rules.
The board is authorised to approve arrangements beyond the decision rules
for each business area.

2020

2019

Total borrowings

324

207

Less cash and cash equivalents

-92

-57

Net borrowings at 31 December

232

150

Interest

Total assets
Gearing as net borrowings at 31 December

4,964
5%

5,067
3%

EBITDA before FIFO
Gearing as net borrowings

1,391
0.2

798
0.2

Effect on interest income
Effect on equity

-11
-9

11
9

3.2 Credit risk
Historically, defaults and losses on accounts receivables have been low in
the Scandinavian market. However, the group also has a considerable
turnover relating to customers. In such cases, we perform a thorough
analysis of the credit quality of new customers, and corresponding routines
have been implemented for assessment of existing customer relations. A
certain credit risk also arises from committed transactions with customers
and derivatives and deposits with financial institutions. Counterparties in
derivative contracts and financial deposits are limited to financial
institutions with high creditworthiness.
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The accounting value of accounts receivable and payable is assumed to
equal the fair value of these items. The fair value of financial liabilities
(calculated for note purposes) is estimated by discounting future
contractual cash flows with the group’s alternative market interest for
similar financial instruments.

Note 4 – Critical accounting estimates and judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.
4.1.a Environmental liabilities
The group purchases, stores and sells products based on petroleum. We
have introduced routines to ensure regular environmental inspections, in
order to assess costs incurred for environmental restoration and handling
our environmental liability.

4.1.b Asset retirement obligations
The group has in some cases assumed a liability to reestablish
properties/locations used for energy activities to its original condition when
the activities at a service station cease. When entering such contracts, a
liability corresponding to the present value of expected reestablishment
costs is entered in the accounts. Similarly, the cost of the right of use asset
is increased and depreciated over the expected lease period. The estimate,
which is recognized in the balance sheet as a liability and an asset, is
continuously object for revaluation.
The present value of the reestablishment cost is determined by considering
all assumptions and uncertain estimates which are included in the present
value of expected reestablishment cost. These include the asset’s economic
life, cost of reestablishment, discount rate and rate of inflation.
See also note 24.

Every year, the group calculates environmental restoration liabilities. The
calculations make use of accumulated knowledge and specific information
for each service station, e.g. age, number of tanks, and a specific
assessment of the stations’ environmental conditions and environment
factors such as distance to sources of drinking water. These estimates are
uncertain average judgments of expenses and time of settlement. External
experts assist to various degree in the calculation of these estimates.

4.1.c Leases
The group has a significant number of leases that are recognised in the
balance sheet. In accordance with IFRS 16 - Leases, assessments must be
made of the rental period, discount rate and recognition of any option
periods. The assessments involve a considerable degree of estimates and
assumptions, and these may be different from the actual future rental
conditions.

See also note 24.

See also note 15 and note 27.

Gearing ratios, expressed as net borrowings divided by total assets and as
net borrowings divided by EBITDA before FIFO, are shown in the table
below.
Amounts in NOK million

+5%-point

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The group utilises
various methods and makes assumptions based on the prevailing market
conditions at the balance sheet date. For long-term liabilities, quoted prices

for the actual instrument or for a similar instrument are used. Other
techniques, such as the discounted value of future cash flow, are used to
determine the fair value of other financial instruments. The fair value of
interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flows.

In order to improve capital structure, the group may adjust its investment
level, exploit available credit facilities, sell financial investments or adjust the
amount of dividend paid to shareholders.

The group’s interest risk is related to borrowings, lending and bank deposits.
Loans with floating interest represent an interest risk for the group’s cash
flow. The effects are calculated on the basis of the group’s net interest
bearing receivables (liabilities) at 31 December 2020.
-5%-point

3.5 Assessment of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as
securities available for sale or held for trading purposes) is based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price for
financial assets is the current bid price. For financial liabilities, the current
sales price is used.
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Note 5 - Segment reporting - Geographical

Note 6 – Operating revenue

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating
decisionmaker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer. The revenues is measured at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, net of discounts, returns,
excise duties and value added taxes. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

2020 Amounts in NOK million
Operating revenues, external

Norway Denmark
6,045
4,094

Other/
Elim
-1

Total
10,138

2019 Amounts in NOK million
Operating revenues, external

Norway Denmark
7,222
5,108

Other/
Elim
-1

Total
12,329

Other income and gains (losses)

8

15

-9

14

Other income and gains (losses)

Share of profit of associates

-

5

8

13

Share of profit of associates

-5,078

-2,975

11

-8,042

-422

-541

-

-963

EBITDA

553

598

9

1,160

Amortisation and impairment,
rights, licences etc.

-20

-12

-

-32

Depreciation and impairment,
property plant and equipment

-106

-71

-

Depreciation and impairment of
right-of-use assets

-64

-81

Operating profit

363

434

FIFO

-81

-150

-

-231

10

24

-

34

EBITDA before FIFO

634

748

9

1,391

EBITDA before FIFO

391

421

-14

798

Operating profit before FIFO

444

584

9

1,037

Operating profit before FIFO

217

275

-14

478

Investments

259

151

-

410

Investments

172

144

-

316

Number of Uno-X and YX

474

242

-

716

Number of Uno-X and YX

473

243

-

716

35

74

-

109

Number of YX Truck

34

72

-

106

509

316

-

825

Total number of stations

507

315

-

822

Cost of goods sold
Operating expenses

Number of YX Truck
Total number of stations

14

4

-9

9

-

2

-3

-1

-6,440

-4,156

10

-10,586

-395

-513

-11

-919

EBITDA

401

445

-14

832

Amortisation and impairment,
rights, licences etc.

-15

-10

-

-25

-177

Depreciation and impairment,
property plant and equipment

-102

-64

-

-166

-

-145

Depreciation and impairment of
right-of-use assets

-57

-72

-

-129

9

806

Operating profit

227

299

-14

512

Cost of goods sold
Operating expenses

FIFO

Sales of goods
The activities of Uno-X Energi mainly include sales, distribution and marketing of fuel through its own nationwide network of self-service stations and sales
of goods to retailers. The group also sells other energy-related products directly to consumers.
A number of the products are subject to excise duties. These duties accrue when products are removed from duty-free inventories, and it is the supply and
storage companies (Uno-X Forsyning (NO) and YX Danmark (DK)) that collects the duties from our customers, both internal customers in Uno-X Energi and
external customers. Excise duties that apply to our companies are lubricant duties, petrol and diesel duties, CO2 duties on all gas oil products, sulphur duties
on some of our products, and bio-duties on products with bio-elements. Group revenue are presented excluding excise duties, and accordingly they are not
included in cost of goods sold. In the consolidated comprehensive income, the group presents the size of the excise duties that have been charged in the
period.
2020

2019

10,085

12,280

49
4

46
3

10,138

12,329

2020

2019

Dividend income
Other revenues

15

14

Total other income

15

14

2020
-5

2019
-5

3

-

Amounts in NOK million

Revenue from sales of goods
Revenue from sales of services
Rental income
Total revenue

Note 7 – Other income
Amounts in NOK million

Note 8 - Net other gains (losses)
Amounts in NOK million

Net gains (losses) on sale of property, plant and equipment
Net realised gains (losses) on financial investments

Investments are presented as investments in operating activities.

Net currency gains (losses), operating activies

FIFO effect is a calculated effect reflecting realised gains (losses) on oil products sold in the period. The calculated effect reflects the difference
between cost price at the day the product is sold (which is the basis for the daily price settings in the market) and the historical cost paid for the
product. In average products are sold 20-30 days after they are bought, and the cost price is changing in that period resulting in the calculated
FIFO effects.

Total other gains (losses) - net

1

-

-1

-5

Revenue from contracts with customers
2020 Amounts in NOK million
Revenue from sales of goods
Revenue from sales of services
Total revenue from contracts
with customers

66

Norway Denmark
5,995
4,090
46
3
6,041

Other/
Elim
-

Total
10,085
49

-

10,134

4,093

2019 Amounts in NOK million
Revenue from sales of goods
Revenue from sales of services
Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Norway Denmark
7,180
5,100
38
7
7,218

5,107

Other/
Elim
1

Total
12,280
46

1

12,326
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Note 9 - Employee benefit expense, fees and key management compensation

Note 9 - Employee benefit expense, fees and key management compensation - Continued
2020
-200

2019
-164

Social security costs

-15

-15

Pension costs

-15

-14

-9

-9

Total employee benefit expense

-239

-202

Average number of employees

157

148

Number of fulltime equivalents

140

141

Amounts in NOK million

Wages and salaries

Other employment benefits

Key management compensation
The CEO has in 2020 received short term incentives of 10,5 million and long term incentives of 0,0 million (NOK 10,9 and 11,7 million in 2019) of which
8,6 million is short term salary, and 1,9 million is pension costs. The CEO has no agreement for payment upon termination of employment.
The group has not paid any remuneration to the Board of Directors in 2020 (NOK 0.0 million in 2019). The Chairman has no other bonus or special
compensation on termination of office.
As of 31 December 2020 there are no loans to executives, directors, shareholders or related parties.
The group has not provided any guarantees on behalf of executives, directors, shareholders or related parties.
There has not been any significant purchase or sale of goods or services between group companies and executives, directors, shareholders or related
parties.

Loans to employees
The group had no loans to employees as at 31 December 2020, nor as at 31 December 2019.

Fees to auditors

Guarantees to employees
The group has not provided any guarantees on behalf of employees as at 31 December 2020, nor as at 31 December 2019.

Audit

2020
-2.7

2019
-3.1

Assurance services

-0.8

-0.6

Tax advisory services

-0.2

-0.2

Total fees to auditors

-3.9

-4.0

Rental of premises

2020
-28

2019
-31

Maintenance of premises

-119

-115

Distribution

-157

-158

Marketing expenses

-38

-39

Travel and cars

-12

-19

Office consumables, equipment, communication

-15

-14

Fees (legal, audit and other fees)

-70

-55

IT

-62

-56

Transaction cost and bank charges

-25

-25

Amounts in NOK million

Pensions
The group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due.

All amounts relating to audit fees specified above are exclusive of VAT.

A defined benefit plans typically define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. In addition to funded defined benefit plans funded through insurance companies, the group also has
unfunded pension liabilities covered by operations.

Note 10 - Other operating expenses

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit
credit method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in
other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Amounts in NOK million

As at 31 December 2020 the group has defined contribution plans with 153 members (147 in 2019) and defined benefit plans with 29 members (31 in
2019). Uno-X Energi in Norway is obligated to provide an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Mandatory Occupational Pension Act. The
company’s pension scheme satisfy the requirements of the Act.
Pension expenses
2020
-

2019
-

Defined contribution plans

-16

-14

Total pension costs

-16

-14

Financial cost

-1

-2

Remeasurements - OCI

-4

-16

-21

-32

31.12.20
17

31.12.19
15

Amounts in NOK million

Defined benefit plans

Total pension costs and remeasurements

Loss on bad debt

-6

-30

Other operating expenses

-192

-175

Total other operating expenses

-724

-717

Pension liabilities
Amounts in NOK million

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January
Contributions from plan participants
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December
Present value of obligation at 31 December
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December
Net defined benefit liabilities at 31 December

68

2

2

19

17

-87

-84

19

17

-68

-67
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Note 11 - Net financial items

Note 12 – Income tax - Continued
2020
5

Amounts in NOK million

Interest income - bank deposits

2019
10

Interest income - loans to customers

1

1

Total interest income

6

11

Interest expense - borrowings from banks

-7

Interest expense - income tax

-1

-

Interest expense - pension liabilities

-1

-2

Interest expense - provisions unwinding of discount

-5

-6

-14

-18

Total interest expenses
Net interest income (expenses)
Amounts in NOK million

Net interest income (expense)
Interest expense - lease liabilities
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) on financing activities

-10

-8

-7

2020
-8

2019
-7

-27

-29

44

-1

Other finance costs

-

-31

Net finance income (expense)

9

-68

Profit before income tax

2020
815

2019
444

Nominal tax rate 22%

-179

-98

Effect of different domestic tax rates

-

-

Effect of changes in domestic tax rate

-

-

Effect of non-deductible expenses

-

-3

Effect of income not subject for tax

-

2

Effect of associates result reported net of tax

1

-

-15

13

Amounts in NOK million

Effect of adjustments in tax in respect of prior years
Other

1

-2

Total tax on result

-192

-88

Effective tax rate (%)

23%

20%

The nominal tax rate in 2020 and 2019 was 22 percent in Norway and Denmark.
Tax on other comprehensive income
2020
Amounts in NOK million

2019

Before tax
-5

Tax
1

After tax
-4

Before tax
2

Tax
3

After tax
-13

Note 12 – Income tax

Remeasurements of post employment benefits

-41

9

-32

-10

-2

10

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.

Currency translation differences

57

-

57

12

-

-5

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where
the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.

Other comprehensive income

11

10

21

4

1

-8

2020
148

2019
155

Netted against deferred tax liability

-30

-36

Total deferred tax assets

118

119

Cash flow hedges

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax at 31 December
Amounts in NOK million

Deferred tax assets

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liability

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Total deferred tax liability

Netted against deferred tax assets

Net deferred tax in the balance sheet at 31 December

31

41

-30

-36

1

5

117

114

2020
114

2019
91

-8

21

10

1

Income tax expenses and tax payable
Amounts in NOK million

Payable tax on result
Corrections in payable tax previous years
Changes in deferred tax
Total tax on result

2020
-170

2019
-109

-14

-

-8

21

-192

-88

Current tax on profits for the year

170

109

Prepaid taxes

-87

-57

-

-

Net tax payable at 31 December

83

52

Tax payable (liability)

87

52

Prepaid taxes (asset)

-

-

83

52

Effect of foreign exchange rate differences

Net tax payable at 31 December

70

Amounts in NOK million

Net deferred tax in the balance sheet at 1 January
Changes in deferred tax charged to the income statement
Changes in deferred tax charged to other comprehensive
income
Exchange difference
Net deferred tax in the balance sheet at 31 December
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Note 12 – Income tax - Continued

Note 13 – Intangible assets

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction is as follows:

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the group’s interest in net fair value of the
net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree at the time of acquisition.

Amounts in NOK million

Deferred tax assets at 1 January 2019
Charged to the income statement 2019
Charged to other comprehensive income
Exchange difference

Property,
plant and
equipment
18

Leases and
other
liabilities
30

Provisions
64

Taxable
profit and
loss acct.
8

Tax loss
carried
forward
-

14
-

-3

9

1

3

-

-

Other
3

Total
123

3

6

30

-

-2

1

-

-

-

-

-

1

1

32

30

73

9

3

8

155

Charged to the income statement 2020

1

-5

-6

-

-3

-5

-18

Charged to other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

9

9

Exchange difference

-

1

1

-

-

-

2

33

26

68

9

-

12

148

Intangible Investment
assets
property
-10
-2

Property,
plant and
equipment
-19

Derivative
financial
instrum.
-1

Total
-32

Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2019

Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2020

Amounts in NOK million

Deferred tax at 1 January 2019
Charged to the income statement 2019

-

-

-9

-

-9

Exchange difference

-

-

-

-

-

-10

-2

-28

-1

-41

Charged to the income statement 2020
Charged to other comprehensive income

1
-

-

10
-

1

11
1

Exchange difference

-

-

-2

-

-2

-9

-2

-20

-

-31

Deferred tax at 31 December 2019

Deferred tax at 31 December 2020

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
Software and rights
Separately acquired software and rights are shown at historical cost. software and rights are acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Software and rights have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of software and rights are over their estimated useful lives of 4 - 5 years.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life – for example, goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use – are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
Amounts in NOK million

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019
Transfers
Additions

Software
and rights
153

Goodwill
4

Development
33

Total
190

1

-

-

1

13

-

-

13

-25

-

-

-25

Impairment charges

-

-

-

-

Exchange difference

-1

-

-

-1

138

4

33

175

Amortisation charges

Total tax on result
Cost price

365

4

33

402

-227

-

-

-227

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019

138

4

33

175

Carrying amount at 1 January 2020

175

Accumulated depreciation

138

4

33

Transfers

3

-

-

3

Additions

27

-

-

27

-

-

-

-

-32

-

-

-32

Disposals
Amortisation charges
Exchange difference
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020
Cost price

3

-

-

3

139

4

33

176

407

4

33

444

-268

-

-

-268

139

4

33

176

2020
2

2019
2

Denmark

2

2

Carrying amount at 31 December

4

4

Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020

The carrying amounts of rights are primarily related to the trademark Uno-X and customer portfolio.
Goodwill by segment at 31 December
Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash generating units expected to benefit from the acquisition.
Norway

72
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Note 14 – Property, plant and equipment

Note 14 – Property, plant and equipment - Continued

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Investments in and sale of property, plant and equipment

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
The asset retirement obligation is recognised as part of the acquisition cost of the asset. The estimate may be changed as a result of renewed judgment.
Such changes are recognised as an increase or reduction of the asset’s carrying amount. If the reduction is greater than the asset’s carrying amount, the
excess amount will be recognised in profit and loss. If the carrying amount is increased, the company will consider whether this is an indication of
impairment according to IAS 36.

Investments (cost price)
2019

Land, buildings
and plants
196

Fixtures
85

Machines office
eq. and vehicles
22

Total
303

2020

254

96

32

382

Amounts in NOK million

Sales (sales price)
2019

7

7

1

15

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

2020

3

7

1

11

Buildings
Station fixtures
Fixtures
Vehicles
Furniture, fittings and equipment
IT-eqipment
Fuel pumps and tanks

Note 15 – Right-of-use assets

10-25 years
5-10 years
5-10 years
5-18 years
3-5 years
3-5 years
5-25 years

Right-of-use assets
The group measures the right-of-use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities The cost of the right-of-use asset comprise:

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

• The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability recognised
• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any incentives received

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘Net other gains (losses)’ in
the income statement.
Land, buildings
and plants
639

Fixtures
403

Transfer between groups

-22

26

-8

-4

Additions - ordinary

196

85

22

303

-7

-7

-1

-15

-53

-74

-24

-151

Impairment loss

-6

-7

-2

-15

Currency translation differences

-4

-3

1

-6

743

423

172

1,338

1,086

1,215

413

2,714

-343

-792

-241

-1,376

743

423

172

1,338

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 1 January 2019

Disposals
Depreciation

Book value at 31 December 2019

Machines office
eq. and vehicles
184

• Any initial direct costs incurred by the group. An estimate of the costs to be incurred by the group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Total
1,226

The group applies the depreciation requirements in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in depreciating the right-of-use asset, except that the right-of-use
asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the lease term and the remaining useful life of the right-of-use asset.
The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and to account for any impairment loss identified

Recognition of leases and exemptions
At the lease commencement date, the group recognises a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset for all lease agreements in which it is the
lessee, except for the following exemptions applied:
• Short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less)
• Low value assets

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Book value at 31 December 2019

For these leases, the group recognises the lease payments as other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss when they incur.

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 1 January 2020

743

423

172

Transfer between groups

-41

32

6

-3

Additions - ordinary

254

96

32

382

Disposals

1,338

-3

-7

-1

-11

Depreciation

-58

-75

-24

-157

Impairment loss

-11

-8

-

-19

Currency translation differences
Book value at 31 December 2020
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Book value at 31 December 2020

26

13

3

42

910

474

188

1,572

1,315

1,303

450

3,068

-405

-829

-262

-1,496

910

474

188

1,572

Book value at 1 January 2019

74

Warehouse
13

Offices
13

Vehicles
6

Total
662

19

25

-

-

1

45

12

29

-3

-7

-

31

-47

-72

-1

-6

-3

-129

Remeasurements
Depreciation and amortisation charges
Currency translation differences
Book value at 31 December 2019

-1

-2

-

-

-

-3

243

350

9

-

4

606

2

-2

-

-

-

-

86

27

-

24

6

143

Reclassifications
Additions
Remeasurements
Depreciation and amortisation charges

16

44

-

1

-

61

-55

-79

-1

-7

-3

-145

Currency translation differences

Lease term
Depreciation method

Fixtures includes fuel-pumps and tanks at the stations.

Outlets
370

Additions

Book value at 31 December 2020

The group has no restrictions on property, plant and equipment.

Land
260

4

20

-

-

-

24

296

360

8

18

7

689

1-31 years

1-45 years

1-9 years

1-2 years

1-4 years

Straight-line

Straight-line

Straight-line

Straight-line

Straight-line

Information regarding changes in the group's lease obligations is specified in Note 27 – Lease liabilities.
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Note 17 - Investments in subsidiaries

Note 15 – Right-of-use assets - Continued
Lease expenses (exemptions)
2020
-27

2019
-27

Expenses related to short-term lease exemption

-1

-3

Expenses related to low-value asset exemption

-

-1

-28

-31

Amounts in NOK million

Variable lease expenses

Total lease expenses
Number of contracts

Proporation of
shares held
directly by parent
100.0 %

Proportion of
shares held by
the Group
100.0 %

Company name
Uno-X Danmark A/S

Office location
Søborg, Denmark

Nature of business
Self-service stations

YX Danmark A/S

Søborg, Denmark

Energy

100.0 %

100.0 %

YX Smøreolie A/S

Søborg, Denmark

Lubricants

100.0 %

100.0 %

Uno-X Norge AS

Bærum, Norway

Self-service stations

100.0 %

100.0 %

Madlaveien 77 AS

Bærum, Norway

Property

100.0 %

100.0 %

Land
3

Outlets
46

Warehouse
1

Offices
-

Vehicles
-

Total
50

Lura Eiendom AS

Bærum, Norway

Property

100.0 %

100.0 %

Number of lease contracts

83

398

20

9

29

539

Uno-X Sykkel AS

Bærum, Norway

Developm. cycling team

100.0 %

100.0 %

Uno-X Bikes AS

Bærum, Norway

Developm. cycling team

100.0 %

100.0 %

Total number of owned and leased premises

86

444

21

9

29

589

Uno-X Fiets BVBA

Harelbeke, Belgium

Other services

100.0 %

100.0 %

Uno-X Cykel ApS

Søborg, Denmark

Developm. cycling team

100.0 %

100.0 %

Bærum, Norway

Full-service stations/Energy

100.0 %

100.0 %

Bærum, Norway

Property

100.0 %

100.0 %

Uno-X Forsyning AS

Bærum, Norway

Energy

100.0 %

100.0 %

YX Smøreolje AS

Bærum, Norway

Lubricants

100.0 %

100.0 %

Number owned

24

No. of contracts with an opt. for prolongment

137

-

1

-

162

YX Norge AS
Gasolin Rudshøgda AS

Note 16 – Investments in associated companies
Associated companies and joint ventures in the group
Company name
Office location
Scanlube AB
Gøteborg, Sweden
Skanol A/S
Århus, Denmark
Samtank A/S
Århus, Denmark
Firstcycling AS
Sogndal, Norway
None of the group's associated companies are listed.

Share of ownership
50.0 %
50.0 %
50.0 %
50.0 %

Note 18 – Financial instruments by category

Nature of business
Lubricants manufacturer
Logistics and distribution
Storage in tanks
Development of cycling statistics website

Recognition
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
Financial assets
The classification of financial assets depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Summarised financial information for the associated companies
Scanlube
AB
13

Skanol
A/S
47

Samtank
A/S
12

Uno-X
Hydrogen AS
4

Firstcycling
AS
-

Total
76

Additions

19

-

18

-

4

41

Share of profit

-1

2

2

-4

-

-1

-

-

-

-

-

-

31

49

32

-

4

116

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 1 January 2019

Currency translation differences
Book value at 31 December 2019
Additions

-

-

20

-

-

20

Share of profit

5

3

5

-

-

13

Dividend received

-

-

-

-

-

-

Currency translation differences

-

-

2

-

-

2

36

52

59

-

4

151

211

243

52

1

-

-

3

2

-3

-

Assets 31 December 2019

79

171

70

29

2

Liabilities 31 December 2019

48

122

38

25

-

Equity 31 December 2019

31

49

32

4

2

253

182

49

-

-

2

4

-

-

-

Assets 31 December 2020

84

101

96

-

2

Liabilities 31 December 2020

48

49

37

-

-

Equity 31 December 2020

36

52

59

-

2

Book value at 31 December 2020
Revenue and balance based on share of ownership
Revenue 2019
Profit for the year 2019

Revenue 2020
Profit for the year 2020

The group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Financial assets at amortised cost
- Derivative financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as:
- Loan and receivables at amortised cost
- Derivative financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Amortised cost
After initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.

Interests in joint operations
The group has a 25 % ownership share in Sisterne Drift DA, which operates the group’s storage facilities for oil products at Ekeberg, Oslo. The group
recognises its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses related to the joint operation.
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Note 19 – Trade and other receivables

Note 18 – Financial instruments by category - Continued

Current receivables

Financial instruments and their carrying amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December.

Trade receivables
Current receivables, group companies
Prepaid expenses
Accrued revenue
Receivables from public authorities
Current derivative financial instruments
Other current receivables

2020
1,232
5
64
2
1
1

2019
1,534
4
48
2
3
2

Current receivables at 31 December

1,305

1,593

472

580

Non-current interest bearing receivables
Other non-current receivables
Non-current receivables at 31 December

2020
1
14
15

2019
3
14
17

Total receivables at 31 December

1,320

1,610

2020
11
3
1
15

2019
5
6
6
17

2020
-77
43
3
-3
-34

2019
-23
-54
-77

2020
105
2
107

2019
191
2
193

2020
1,266
-34
1,232

2019
1,580
-46
1,534

2020
464
750
8
9
1
1,232

2019
574
945
6
8
1
1,534

Amounts in NOK million
Amounts in NOK million

2020

Financial assets at
fair value through Financial assets at
profit or loss
amortised cost

Financial investments
Non-current receivables

Liabilities at
amortised cost

Derivative
financial
instruments

Total

20

-

-

-

20

20

15
15

-

-

15
35

Trade and other current receivables

-

1,305

-

-

1,305

Cash and cash equivalents

-

92

-

-

92

Total current financial assets

-

1,397

-

-

1,397

20

1,412

-

-

1,432

Non-current derivative financial instruments

-

-

-

9

9

Current derivative financial instruments

-

-

-

27

27

Current borrowings

-

-

324

-

324

Trade and other current liabilities

-

-

1,792

-

1,792

Total financial liabilities

-

-

2,116

36

2,152

20

1,412

-2,116

-36

-720

Total non-current financial assets

Total financial assets

Net financial assets (liabilities)

Carrying value of trade receivables held as collateral for debt
Non-current receivables
Amounts in NOK million

There is no difference between the carrying value and fair value of interest bearing assets.
The aging analysis of non-current receivables is as follows
Amounts in NOK million

Amounts in NOK million

2019

Financial assets at
fair value through Financial assets at
profit or loss
amortised cost

Liabilities at
amortised cost

Derivative
financial
instruments

Total
16

Financial investments
Non-current receivables

16

-

-

-

-

-

-

2

2

Total non-current financial assets

16

17
17

-

2

17
35

Derivative financial instruments

-

1,593

-

-

1,593

Cash and cash equivalents

-

57

-

-

57

Total current financial assets

-

1,650

-

-

1,650

16

1,667

-

2

1,685

Trade and other current receivables

Total financial assets
Current borrowings

-

-

207

-

207

Derivative financial instruments

-

-

2,212

-

2,212

Total financial liabilities

-

-

2,419

-

2,419

16

1,667

-2,419

2

-734

Net financial assets (liabilities)

Shares in TankRE A/S (Villatank A/S) - Denmark

Movement in the group provision for impairment of trade receivables
Amounts in NOK million

Provision for receivables at 1 January
Movement in provision
Interest income increase
Exchange difference
Provision for receivables at 31 December
The aging analysis of overdue trade receivables is as follows
Amounts in NOK million

Up to 3 months
Over 3 months
Over due trade receivables at 31 December
Carrying amount of trade receivables and provision
Amounts in NOK million

Total trade receivables
Provision for trade receivables
Carrying amount at 31 December

Financial investments at 31 December consist of:
Amounts in NOK million

1 - 2 years
2 - 5 years
More than 5 years
Non-current receivables at 31 December

2020
20

2019
16

The carrying amounts of the group's trade and other receivables are in the following currencies
Amounts in NOK million

Ownership of the investment is as follows at 31 December:
Shares in TankRE A/S (Villatank A/S) - Denmark

78

2020
12.92%

2019
13.45%

NOK
DKK
SEK
EUR
PLN
Total trade and other receivables at 31 December
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Note 20 – Inventories

Note 23 - Other reserves

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses. The group’s inventory substantially consists of purchased finished goods for resale.
2020
813

2019
1,015

Total inventories at 31 December

813

1,015

Carrying amount of inventory held as collateral for debt at 31 December

217

278

Amounts in NOK million

Finished goods

Amounts in NOK million

Other reserves at 1 January 2019
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation differences
Other reserves at 31 December 2019
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation differences
Other reserves at 31 December 2020

Note 21 – Cash
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities.
2020
92

Amounts in NOK million

Cash at bank and in hand (excluding bank overdrafts)

2019
57

Cash include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows
Cash (excluding bank overdrafts)

2020
92

2019
57

Bank overdrafts

-324

-207

Cash as presented in cash flows

-232

-150

Amounts in NOK million

2020
7

2019
3

Other restricted deposits

-

46

Total restricted deposits at 31 December

7

49

Amounts in NOK million

Tax withholdings funds

Restricted deposits are included in cash.

Currency
translation
difference
156

Total
162

10

-

10

-

-6

-6

16

150

166

-32

-

-32

-

57

57

-16

207

191

Note 24– Provisions for other liabilities
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 1 January 2019

Restricted deposits

Financial
assets
6

Used during the year

Asset retirement
obligations
166

Environm.
restoration
127

Total
293

4

-10

-6

Unused amounts reversed

-2

-9

-11

Provisions made in the year

8

3

11

Interest expense increased provision

3

2

5

Currency translation difference

1

-

1

180

113

293

Book value at 31 December 2019

Note 22 - Share capital, premium and shareholders

Used during the year

-1

8

7

Unused amounts reversed

-3

-8

-11

Share capital and premium

Provisions made in the year

Ordinary shares

2020
100

2019
100

Share premium

340

340

Share capital and premium at 31 December

440

440

Amounts in NOK million

Shareholder at 31 December 2020
REITAN HANDEL AS

Number of
shares
1,000,000

Share of
ownership
100.0 %

Share of
voting rights
100.0 %

Total number of shares

1,000,000

100.0 %

100.0 %

Amounts in NOK million

19

3

22

Interest expense increased provision

3

1

4

Currency translation difference

3

3

6

201

120

321

Asset retirement
obligations
12

Environm.
restoration
21

Total
33

Due in 1 - 2 years

17

11

28

Due in 2 - 5 years

65

28

93

Due in more than 5 years

107

60

167

Book value at 31 December 2020

201

120

321

1.8 %

1.8 %

1.8 %

Book value at 31 December 2020
Expected time of settlement
Amounts in NOK million

Due in less than 1 year

Discount rate

80

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

Uno-X Energi Annual Report 2020

80

81

Uno-X Energi Annual Report 2020

81

Note 26 – Loan agreements

Note 24– Provisions for other liabilities - Continued

The parent company has the following loan agreements as of 31 December 2020:
Classification of total provisions
31 December
2020
33

31 December
2019
26

Non-current

288

267

Total provisions for other liabilities

321

293

Amounts in NOK million

Current

Asset retirement obligations includes the obligation to return property and land to its original condition by the end of the lease period.
Environmental restoration includes expenses related to the removal of contaminants that have arised as a result of operations in Uno-X.

Working capital and facility agreement
Uno-X Energi AS and DNB entered into a credit and corporate account agreement with collateral in subsidiaries, receivables and inventories, the latter
limited to Norwegian subsidiaries only. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of NOK 1‚400 million, limited to a percentage of the group’s
outstanding receivables and the Norwegian companies’ inventories. The parent company is the owner of the facility. The group’s net deposits (borrowings)
are presented in the parent company’s accounts.
Subsidiaries’ deposits (drawing) is presented as deposits (receivables) for the parent company. The amount as of 31 December 2020 is included in Note 25
– Borrowings under ”Bank overdrafts – current assets”.
All subsidiaries are members of the credit and corporate account agreement and have provided an on-demand guarantee as collateral for Uno-X Energi AS
and its obligations according to the working capital facility agreement.
The following financial covenants apply to the credit facility in Uno-X Energi:

Receivables/Debt
(minimum)

EBITDA
12 months
rolling basis
(minimum)

Equity to be
(minimum)

Equity Ratio to be
(minimum)

1,00

NOK 220 million

NOK 900 million

20 %

Note 25 – Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Time of measuring

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

From Q4 2010

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months from the
balance sheet date.

Note 27 – Lease Liabilities

Current and non-current borrowings

The lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of the lease. The group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date. The lease term represents the non-cancellable
period of the lease, together with periods covered by an option either to extend or to terminate the lease when the group is reasonably certain to exercise
this option.

2020
324

Amounts in NOK million

Bank overdraft at 31 December

2019
207

The lease payments included in the measurement comprise of:
Carrying amount of assets held as collateral for debt

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
2020
217

2019
278

Trade and other current receivables

472

580

Carrying amount of assets held as collateral for debt at 31 December

689

858

Amounts in NOK million

Inventory

The exposure of the group's borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing dates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date
• Amount expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees
• The exercise price of a purchase option, if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect adjustments in lease
payments due to an adjustment in an index or rate.

2020
324

2019
207

1-2 years

-

-

The group does not include variable lease payments in the lease liability. Instead, the group recognises these variable lease expenses in profit or loss.

2-3 years

-

-

The discount rate used to calculate the present value of future rental payments is the lease's implicit interest rate, if available. The lease's implicit interest
rate is not available for most of the group's leases. In such cases, the lessees marginal loan rate is used, which consists of a base rate and a credit premium.
The base rate is a market rate based on a combination of the tenant's home country and the term of the lease. The term is assigned to one of three maturity
intervals, either 1-5 years, 5-10 years or over 10 years. Interest rates of 2, 4 and 10 years are used for the three intervals respectively. Credit premiums
correspond to market credit premiums for companies with similar credit ratings as tenants. Credit rating is determined through individual credit assessment
of the individual tenant. Interest expenses related to the lease obligations are recognized as a separate line in the income statement. The group presents its
lease liabilities as separate line items in the statement of financial position.

Amounts in NOK million

1 year or less

3-5 years

-

-

324

207

NOK

2020
369

2019
150

DKK

38

265

SEK

-23

-11

Total borrowings at 31 December
The carrying amounts of the group's borrowings are in the following currencies:
Amounts in NOK million

EUR

-3

40

USD

-57

-237

Total borrowings at 31 December

324

207

Undrawn borrowing facilities
The parent company Uno-X Energi AS has a loan agreement with DNB. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of NOK 1,400 million, of which NOK
324 million was drawn at 31 December 2020. See Note 26 – Loan Agreements for a description of the facility. Unused credit facilities are at floating rates.

82

Warehouse
and prod.
facilities
12

Offices
14

Vehicles and
offices
equipment
6

Total
701

Land
296

Outlets
373

Additions

17

20

-

-

1

38

Remeasurements

12

27

-3

-7

-

29

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 1 January 2019

Payments

-62

-85

-2

-7

-3

-159

Interest expense

13

15

1

-

-

29

Currency translation differences

-1

-2

-

-

-

-3

Book value at 31 December 2019

275

348

8

-

4

635

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

61
214

82
266

2
6

-

2
2

147
488

Book value at 31 December 2019

275

348

8

-

4

635
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Note 29 - Net interest bearing liabilities

Note 27 – Lease Liabilities - Continued

2020
-1

Amounts in NOK million

Other non-current interest bearing receivables
Land
275

Outlets
348

Warehouse
and prod.
facilities
8

Additions

75

22

-

24

6

127

Remeasurements

18

43

-

-

-

61

-72

-93

-2

-7

-3

-177

12

14

-

1

-

27

Interest income

4

22

1

-

-

27

Interest expenses

Book value at 31 December 2020

314

354

7

18

7

700

Net interest income (expenses) ex. lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

68
246

66
288

1
6

8
10

2
5

145
555

Book value at 31 December 2020

314

354

7

18

7

700

Amounts in NOK million

Book value at 31 December 2019

Payments
Interest expense
Currency translation differences

Offices
-

Vehicles and
offices
equipment
4

Total
635

Information regarding changes in the group's lease obligations is specified in Note 15 – Rights-of-use assets.

Cash and bank deposits

-92

-57

Current borrowings

324

207

Net interest bearing liabilities (receivables) ex. lease liabilities at 31 December

231

147

Total lease liabilities

700

635

Net interest bearing liabilities (receivables) incl. lease liabilities at 31 December

931

782

6

11

-14

-18

-8

-7

Interest expense - lease liabilities

-27

-29

Net interest income (expenses) incl. lease liabilities

-35

-36

Note 30 - Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The interest
element is disregarded if it is insignificant.

Duration of lease contracts
31.12.20
148

31.12.19
144

Within 1 - 2 years

130

111

Within 2 - 3 years

106

96

Accrued payroll

Within 3 - 4 years

87

77

Other accrued expenses
Current liabilities, group companies

Amounts in NOK million

Within 1 year

2019
-3

Trade payables

2020
613

2019
1,057

Public dues other than income tax

1,030

977

Amounts in NOK million

Within 4 - 5 years

71

65

More than 5 years

255

217

Current derivative financial instruments

Total lease expenses

797

710

Other current liabilities

Effect of discounting

-97

-75

Present value of lease liabilities

700

635

Total trade and other payables at 31 December

33

21

111

143

-

13

27

-

5

1

1,819

2,212

Note 31 – Related parties
Note 28 – Guarantees
Company guarantees for others
2020
4

2019
3

Guarantees for suppliers (see also note 31)

73

73

Total company guarantees for others at 31 December

77

76

Amounts in NOK million

Guarantees for rent

Shareholders
Uno-X Energi AS is a 100 percent owned subsidiary of REITAN HANDEL AS, se note 22 – Share capital, premium and shareholders. REITAN HANDEL AS is
100 percent controlled by the Reitan family through three holding companies. REITAN HANDEL AS also owns shares of other companies. Uno-X Energi AS
has office location in Lysaker, Bærum.
Related parties
Uno-X Energi AS has direct and indirect ownership in 19 companies. The subsidiaries of Uno-X Energi AS are presented in Note 17 - Investment in
subsidiaries.
Associated companies of Uno-X Energi AS are shown in Note 16 – Associated companies.

Bank guarantees
2020
4

2019
3

Guarantees for suppliers

11

10

Total bank guarantees at 31 December

16

17

Amounts in NOK million

Guarantees for rent

Current receivables are related to claims arising from the purchase and sale of goods and services as well as accrued interest on the loan.
The receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing.
The group has not made any provisions for losses on current receivables from related parties as of 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019, nor have any
such losses been realised in 2020 or 2019.
Current liabilities are related to the purchase and sale of goods and services, and accrued interest on the loan.

The subsidiaries' joint guarantee for parent company liabilities
All subsidiaries of Uno-X Energi AS have jointly and separately guaranteed for Uno-X Energi AS’ liabilities related to the credit and corporate account
agreement of NOK 1,400 million. See Note 26 – Loan agreements.
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Note 31 – Related parties - Continued
Transactions with parent
Amounts in NOK million

Purchases of goods and services

2020
-1

2019
-1

2020
-

2019
32

Transactions with associated companies
Amounts in NOK million

Non-current receivables
Trade receivables
Trade payables
Sale of goods

1

1

18

22

10

11

Purchases of goods

-275

-261

Purchases of services

-138

-164

73

72

2020
5

2019
4

-

14

Guarantees
Transactions with other related parties
Amounts in NOK million

Current receivables
Current liabilities
Sales of goods and services
Purchases of goods and services
Other operating expenses

18

19

-153

-117

-1

-3

Uno-X has some leases with subsidiaries of REITAN EIENDOM (other related parties) in Norway and Denmark. Following the implementation of IFRS 16,
the cost of leases recognised is presented as depreciation of the right-of-use asset and as interest expense on the lease liability. The following categories of
leases with related parties has been identified.


Uno-X Norge AS leases land for some self-service stations with a total rental payment in 2020 of NOK 2 million (2019 NOK 2 million). The
agreements have a total lease liability as of 31 December 2020 of NOK 10 million (2019 NOK 14 million).



Uno-X Forsyning AS leases storage facilities with a total rental payment in 2020 of NOK 1 million (2019 NOK 2 million). The agreements have a
total lease liability as of 31 December 2020 of NOK 3 million (2019 NOK 9 million).



YX Norge AS leases storage facilities with a total rental payment in 2020 of NOK 1 million (2019 NOK 0 million). The agreements have a total
lease liability as of 31 December 2019 of NOK 1 million (2019 NOK 0 million).



Uno-X Danmark A/S leases outlets with a total rental payment in 2020 of NOK 4 million (2019 NOK 3 million). The agreements have a total lease
liability as of 31 December 2020 of NOK 2 million (2019 NOK 9 million).
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Comprehensive income
Amounts in NOK million

Total revenue

Note

2020

2019

2

1,024

29

Share of profit (loss) of associates
Employee benefit expense

3

Other operating expenses

4

Operating profit

Financial Statements

-3

-24

-29

-10

-11

998

-14

Interest income

5

4

6

Interest expenses

5

-1

-2

Other financial income (expenses)

5

49

-32

52

-28

1,050

-42

Net finance income (expenses)
Profit before income tax expenses

Uno-X Energi AS

8

Income tax expenses

6

-12

9

1,038

-33

Remeasurement of pension liabilities

-1

-3

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement

-1

-3

Other comprehensive income

-1

-3

1,037

-36

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:

Total comprehensive income for the year

Allocation of profit for the year
Provision for dividend as of year-end

12

200

-

Distribution of dividend throughout the year

12

600

100

238

-133

1,038

-33

Transferred to (from) other reserves
Total amount allocated
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Balance Sheet at 31 December - Assets

Amounts in NOK million

Note

Balance Sheet at 31 December - Equity and liabilities

2020

2019

Non-current assets

Note

2020

2019

Share capital

12

100

100

Share premium reserve

12

340

340

Amounts in NOK million

Equity

Deferred income tax assets

6

1

10

Investments in subsidiaries

8

354

352

Investments in associated companies

7

88

80

443

442

Total non-current assets

Other reserves

-5

-5

Retained earnings

515

278

Total equity

950

713

Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other receivables

10

Cash

11

1,340

527

3

1

Pension liabilities

6

5

Total current assets

1,343

528

Total non-current liabilities

6

5

Total assets

1,786

970

Current liabilities
Provision for dividend

12

200

-

Borrowings

13

324

207

Trade and other payables

14

306

45

Total current liabilities

830

252

Total liabilities

836

257

1,786

970

Total equity and liabilities

Oslo, 28th May 2021

Oslo, 28th of May 2021
Ole Robert Reitan

Monica Ødegaard

Chairman of the Board

Board member

Ole Robert Reitan
Chairman of the Board
Kristin S. Genton
Board member

Kristin S. Genton
Board member
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Equity
Amounts in NOK million

Equity at 1 January 2019

Statement of Cash Flow
Share capital
and premium
440

Other
reserves
-5

Retained
earnings
414

Total
equity
849

Note

Amounts in NOK million

Profit before income tax
Change in retirement benefit obligations

Profit for the year

-

-

-33

-33

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

-3

-3

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-36

-36

Dividends

-

-

-100

-100

440

-5

278

713

Profit for the year

-

-

1,038

1,038

Remeasurement of pension liabilities

-

-

-1

-1

Total comprehensive income

-

-

1,037

1,037

-

-

-800

-800

440

-5

515

950

Equity at 31 December 2019

Dividends
Equity at 31 December 2020

Finance costs - net

5

Share of profit from associates

Trade and other receivables

2020

2019

1,050

-42

1

3

-52

28

-8

3

-813

443

Trade and other payables

256

-305

Cash generated from operations

434

130

434

130

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

5

Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

3

4

-1

-1

436

133

Net cash flow from investment activities

-19

Dividends paid

-600

-100

Net cash used in financing activities

-600

-100

Net (decrease)/increase in cash

-164

14

-206

-188

Cash at 1 January

11

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash
Cash at 31 December

49

-32

-321

-206

The groups financing solution is classified as an overdraft facility, this scheme is included in cash in this statement.
As of 31 December 2020 Uno-X Energi has unused credit facilities of NOK 1 076 million (NOK 1 193 million as of 31 December 2019).

92

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

UNO-X ENERGI ANNUAL AND ESG REPORT /2020

Uno-X Energi Annual Report 2020

92

93

Uno-X Energi Annual Report 2020

93

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1 – Accounting policies

Note 1 Accounting policies........................................................................................................................................................ 95
Note 2 Total revenue.................................................................................................................................................................. 95
Note 3 Employee benefit expense........................................................................................................................................... 95
Note 4 Other operating expenses............................................................................................................................................ 96
Note 5 Net financial items......................................................................................................................................................... 96
Note 6 Income tax....................................................................................................................................................................... 96

Uno-X Energi AS is the group’s parent company. The separate financial
statements of Uno-X Energi AS have been prepared in accordance with the
provisions of simplified IFRS in separate financial statements, provided in
regulations to the Norwegian Accounting Act, section 3-9, subsection 5
(“Regulations on simplified use of international accounting standards,
chapter 4”), as laid down by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance 3
November, 2014.
Applying the simplified version of IFRS to the parent company accounts
means that valuation rules and accounting policies applied in the
consolidated accounts also apply to the parent company, Uno-X Energi AS.
See the group accounting policies for further information. A simplified
application of IFRS enables the financial statements and note information to
accord with the Accounting Act. The financial statements and notes for the
parent company have been organised in accordance with the Accounting
Act, with the exception of the comprehensive income statement, which
follows IFRS.

Note 7 Investments in associated companies........................................................................................................................ 96

Note 2 - Total revenue

Note 8 Investments in subsidiaries .......................................................................................................................................... 97

Amounts in NOK million

Note 9 Financial instruments by category.............................................................................................................................. 97

988

29

2020
-20

2019
-23

Social security costs

-2

-4

Pension costs

-2

-2

-24

-29

Average number of employees

3

3

Number of fulltime equivalents

3

3

Note 3 - Employee benefit expense

Note 15 Related parties........................................................................................................................................................... 100

2019
29

1,024

Note 11 Cash and cash equivalents ........................................................................................................................................ 97

Note 14 Trade and other payables .......................................................................................................................................... 99

2020
36

Dividend and group contribution

Note 10 Trade and other receivables...................................................................................................................................... 97

Note 13 Borrowings.................................................................................................................................................................... 99

1.2 Dividend and group contribution
Accountable entities that prepare separate financial statements according
to the regulations of the Accounting Act, section 3-9, may, without
prejudice to other provisions in these regulations, enter dividends and
group contributions in accordance with other provisions of the Act. This
means that any dividends and group contributions given or received by the
parent company are entered in the accounts the year before the decision to
give or receive such dividend or group contribution is made. This also
applies to any tax effects relating to such transactions.

Revenue from sales of services
Total revenue

Note 12 Share capital premium and shareholders................................................................................................................ 98

1.1 Shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are entered at cost in Uno-X Energi AS’ financial
statements (cf. IAS 27.37).

Amounts in NOK million

Wages and salaries

Total employee benefit expense

Loans to employees
The group had no loans to employees as at 31 December 2020, nor as at 31 December 2019.
Guarantees to employees
The group has not provided any guarantees on behalf of employees as at 31 December 2020, nor as at 31 December 2019.
Retirement benefit obligations
As of 31 December 2020, the parent company had three active members in its plan (two as of 31 December 2019). The parent company’s pension costs in
2020 were NOK 2 million (NOK 2 million in 2019). The company’s net pension liability at 31 December 2020 was NOK 6 million (NOK 5 million as of 31
December 2019). Uno-X Energi AS is obligated to provide an occupational pension sheme in accordance with the Mandatory Occupational Pension Act.
The company’s pension scheme satisfy the requirements of the Act.
Key management compensation
The CEO has in 2020 received short term incentives of 10.5 million and long term incentives of 0,0 million (NOK 10.9 million and 11.7 million in 2019) of
which 8.6 million is short term salary and 1.9 million is pension costs. The CEO has no agreement for payment upon termination of employment.
The group has not paid any remuneration to the Board of Directors in 2020 (NOK 0.0 million in 2019). The Chairman has no other bonus or special
compensation on termination of office.
As of 31 December 2020 there are no loans or guarantees to executives, directors, shareholders or related parties, nor as at 31 December 2019.
Fees to auditors
The parent company had audit fees of NOK 0.3 million exclusive of VAT in 2020 (NOK 0.7 million in 2019).
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Note 4 - Other operating expenses

Note 8 - Investments in subsidiaries
2020
-

2019
-1

-6

-7

-

-

Transaction cost and bank charges

-2

-2

Other operating expenses

-2

-1

-10

-11

Amounts in NOK million

Marketing expenses
Fees (legal, audit etc.)
Rental of premises

Total other operating expenses

Note 5 - Net financial items
2020
4

2019
6

-1

-2

3

4

2020
3

2019
4

Net foreign exchange gains (losses) on financing activities

49

-32

Net finance income (expense)

52

-28

Amounts in NOK million

Interest income - bank deposits
Interest expense - borrowings from banks
Net interest income (expenses)
Amounts in NOK million

Net interest income (expense)

Note 6 - Income tax

Proporation of
shares held
directly by
parent

Proportion of
shares held
by the
Group

Share capital in
company

Book value in
parent

Amount in 1000

Amount in NOK mill.

100.0 %

100.0 %

105,500

146

Company name
Uno-X Danmark A/S

Office location
Søborg, Denmark

Nature of business
Self-service stations

YX Danmark A/S

Søborg, Denmark

Energy

100.0 %

100.0 %

264,970

63

YX Smøreolie A/S

Søborg, Denmark

Lubricants

100.0 %

100.0 %

2,000

54

Uno-X Norge AS

Bærum, Norway

Self-service stations

100.0 %

100.0 %

351

19

YX Norge AS

Bærum, Norway

Full-service stations

100.0 %

100.0 %

387

17

Uno-X Forsyning AS

Bærum, Norway

Energy

100.0 %

100.0 %

578

42

YX Smøreolje AS

Bærum, Norway

Lubricants

100.0 %

100.0 %

300

Total investments in subsidiaries at 31 December 2020

Note 9 - Financial instruments by category
Financial instruments and their carrying amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December.
Amounts in NOK million

2020

2019

Loans and receivables
Trade and other current receivables

1,340

527

Cash

Reconciliation of Norwegian nominal statutory tax rate to effective tax rate
Amounts in NOK million

Profit before income tax

2020
1,050

2019
-42

-231

9

Nominal tax rate 22%
Effect of income not subject for tax (permanent differences)

2

-

Dividends / group contribution not assessable for income tax

217

-

Total tax on result

-12

9

Effective tax rate (%)

1%

22%

3

1

Total current assets

1,343

528

Financial liabilities
Current borrowings

-324

-207

Trade and other current liabilities

-306

-45

713

276

Prepaid expenses

2020
1

2019
2

Current receivables, group companies

1,339

525

Total receivables at 31 December

1,340

527

2020
3

2019
1

3

1

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

2020
3

2019
1

Bank overdrafts

-324

-207

Cash and cash equivalents

-321

-206

Total net financial instruments at 31 December

Note 10 - Trade and other receivables
Amounts in NOK million

Note 7 - Investments in associated companies
Associated companies in Uno-X Energi AS

Company name
Scanlube AB

Office location
Gøteborg, Sweden

Nature of business
Lubricants manufacturer

Skanol A/S
Århus, Denmark
Logistics and distribution
Total investments in associated companies at 31 December 2020

Share of
ownership
50.0 %

Share of
voting
rights
50.0 %

Measurement
method
Equity

50.0 %

50.0 %

Equity

Book value
in parent

13
354

Note 11 - Cash and cash equivalents

Amount in NOK mill

36

Amounts in NOK million

52
88

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows
Amounts in NOK million
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Note 12 - Share capital, premium and shareholders

Note 13 – Borrowings

Share capital and premium

The parent company has the following loan agreements as of 31 December 2020:

Ordinary shares

2020
100

2019
100

Share premium

340

340

Share capital and premium at 31 December

440

440

REITAN HANDEL AS

Number of
shares
1,000,000

Share of
ownership
100.0 %

Share of
voting rights
100.0 %

Total number of shares

1,000,000

100.0 %

100.0 %

Amounts in NOK million

Shareholder at 31 December 2020
Amounts in NOK million

Working capital and facility agreement
Uno-X Energi AS and DNB entered into a credit and corporate account agreement in 2010 with collateral in subsidiaries, receivables and inventories, the
latter limited to Norwegian subsidiaries only. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of NOK 1‚400 million, limited to a percentage of the group’s
outstanding receivables and the Norwegian companies’ inventories. The parent company is the owner of the facility. The group’s net deposits (borrowings)
are presented in the parent company’s accounts. Unused credit facilities are at floating rates and mature within a year.
Subsidiaries’ deposits (drawing) is presented as deposits (receivables) for the parent company.
All subsidiaries are members of the credit and corporate account agreement and have provided an on-demand guarantee as collateral for Uno-X Energi AS
and its obligations according to the working capital facility agreement.
The following financial covenants apply to the credit facility in Uno-X Energi:
Time of measuring

Group contributions and dividends
2020
200

2019
-

Dividends to shareholders - Distribution of dividend throughout the year

600

100

Total group contributions and dividends

800

100

Amounts in NOK million

Dividends to shareholders - Provision for dividend as of year-end

Receivables/Debt
(minimum)

EBITDA 12 months
rolling basis (minimum)

Equity to be
(minimum)

Equity Ratio to be
(minimum)

1,00

NOK 220 million

NOK 900 million

20 %

From Q4 2010
Borrowings at 31 December

2020
324

2019
207

324

207

2020
217

2019
278

Trade and other current receivables

472

580

Carrying amount of assets held at collateral for debt at 31 December

689

858

Amounts in NOK million

Bank overdraft
Current borrowings at 31 December
Carrying amount of assets held at collateral for debt at 31 December
Amounts in NOK million

Inventory

The exposure of the group's borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing dates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2020
324

2019
207

1-2 years

-

-

2-3 years

-

-

3-5 years

-

-

324

207

2020
369

2019
150

DKK

38

265

SEK

-23

-11

EUR

-3

40

USD

-57

-237

Total borrowings at 31 December

324

207

2020
3

2019
2

Amounts in NOK million

1 year or less

Total borrowings at 31 December
The carrying amounts of the group's borrowings are in the following currencies
Amounts in NOK million

NOK

Fair value of borrowings at 31 December 2020
Fair value for both current and non-current borrowings equals their carrying value.

Note 14 - Trade and other payables
Amounts in NOK million

Trade payables
Current income tax liabilities

2

-

Public dues other than income tax

4

2

Accured expenses

98

9

6

Current liabilities, group companies

288

35

Total trade and other payables at 31 December

306

45
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Note 15 - Related parties
Shareholders
Uno-X Energi AS ia a 100 percent owned subsidiary of REITAN HANDEL AS, se note 12 – Share capital, premium and shareholders. REITAN HANDEL AS is
100 percent controlled by the Reitan family through three holding companies. REITAN HANDEL AS also owns shares of other companies. Uno-X Energi AS
has office location in Lysaker, Bærum.
Related parties
Uno-X Energi AS has direct and indirect ownership in 19 companies. The subsidiaries of Uno-X Energi AS are presented in Note 8 - Investment in
subsidiaries. Associated companies of Uno-X Energi AS are shown in Note 7 – Associated companies.

Definition of Key Figures

Excise duties

-

A number of the products sold by our companies are subject to excise duties. These duties accrue
when products are taken from our main inventories, and thus it is our supply and storage companies
(Uno-X Forsyning (NO) and YX Danmark) that collects the duties from our customers, both internal
customers in Uno-X Energi and external customers. Excise duties that apply to our companies are
lubricant duties, petrol and diesel duties, basic duties (grunnavgift), CO2 duties on all gas oil products,
sulphur duties on some of our products, and bio-duties on products with bio-elements.

Operating margin

-

Operating profit in percent of operating revenue, excl. excise duties

EBITDA

-

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

Cash flow margin

-

EBITDA in percent of operating revenue, excl. excise duties

Return on assets

-

Profit before net interest cost (income), taxes and gain (loss) on disposal of operations in percent of
average total assets

Return on equity

-

Profit for the year in percent of average equity

Equity ratio

-

Equity in percent of total assets

Net interest-bearing debt

-

Interest-bearing debt less interest-bearing receivables and liquid capital

Liquid capital

-

Total cash and bank deposits

Net investments

-

Investments in non-current assets (acquisition cost) less disposal of non-current
assets (sales price)

FIFO effect

-

The FIFO effect is a calculated effect, reflecting realised gain (loss) on oil products sold during the
period. The calculated effect reflects the difference between the current cost on the day the product
is sold (which is the basis for the day-to-day price in the market), and its historical cost. On average, oil
products are sold about 20–30 days after they are purchased.

Purchase and sales of goods and services
All transactions with related parties are made on an arm's-length basis.
Loans to subsidiaries
Uno-X Energi AS has provided loans to subsidiaries. The interest rate is determined by Uno-X Energi AS’s average borrowing rate for loans with similar risk.
Current receivables
Uno-X Energi AS prepares its financial statements according to the regulations of the Accounting Act, paragraph 3–9 and may, without prejudice to other
provisions in these regulations, enter dividends and group contributions in accordance with other provisions of the Act. The proposed dividends from
subsidiaries recognised by the parent company as of 31 December are pending approval by the General Assemblies, and are classified as current receivables
until such approval is granted. As of 31 December 2020, the amount recognised is NOK 988 million (NOK 0 million as of 31 December 2019).
Current receivables are related to claims arising from the purchase and sale of goods and services as well as accrued interest on the loan. The receivables
are unsecured and non-interest bearing.
The parent company has not made any provisions for losses on current receivables from related parties as of 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019,
nor have any such losses been realised in 2020 or 2019.
Current liabilities
The same accounting principles have been applied for current liabilities as for current receivables. In the parent company, the proposed dividends to
shareholders that are pending approval by the General Assembly are recognised as of 31 December 2020, and are classified as current liabilities until such
approval is granted. As of 31 December 2020, the amount recognised is NOK 200 million (NOK 0 million as of 31 December 2019).
Current liabilities are related to the purchase and sale of goods and services, and accrued interest on the loan.

The parent has the following transactions with its parent company
Amounts in NOK million

Other operating expenses

2020
-1

2019
-1

2020
1,339

2019
525

288

35

35

28

The parent has the following transactions with its subsidiaries
Amounts in NOK million

Current receivables
Current liabilities
Sales of goods and services
Purchases of goods and services
Guarantees

-4

-4

1,205

1,510

2020
-

2019
31

73

72

2020
-

2019
1

-

-

The parent has the following transactions with its associates
Amounts in NOK million

Current receivables
Guarantees
The parent has the following transactions with its other related parties
Amounts in NOK million

Sales of goods and services
Guarantees
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/APPENDIX
CARBON ACCOUNTING REPORTING
METHODOLOGY
The following methodology is used as a basis of the
calculation of the carbon accounting. Emissions
included in ton CO2 equivalents (tCO2e) for
scope 1, 2 and 3 are CO2, CH4, N20. SF6, HFC,
PFC and NF3. The global warming potential
(GWP) used in the calculation of CO2e is based on
the Fourth Assessment report (AR4) over a 100year period by the Intergovernmental Panel on

Climate Change (IPCC). Emission consolidation
methods is through operational control for both
Scope 1 and 2. All calculations made in scope 1,
2 and 3 are made consistently in relation to the
GHG Protocol aligned with recognized emission
factor sources. Data input of some categories in
scope 3 has been estimated based on cost. E.g.
taxi kilometres in business travels.

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA
ESG DATA
EXPLANATION
Direct emissions resulting from all seven subsidiaries of Uno-X Energi
CO2e scope 1
(company vehicles)
own combustion of fuels. The calculated is based on quantitative data on
combusted fuels/materials from petrol and diesel.
CO2e scope 2
Scope 2 emissions are calculated per country per bought MWh of electricity
(purchased electricity)
of all seven subsidiaries, including HQ at Uno-X Energi. Indirect emissions
resulting from the energy used to produce electricity which the companies
have purchased for its use in both Norway, Denmark and Belgium.
CO2e scope 3
Indirect emissions from Scope 3 from waste and business travels is converted
to CO2e based on data input from suppliers. Taxi km has been estimated
from the spend of each year. Business travels includes activities from all
seven subsidiaries including HQ at Uno-X Energi. Waste is only reported
from Uno-X Forsyning because they are defined as the most relevant.
Emissions from sales The calculations for liquid products are based on volume and not MJ.
products
Consumption of litres is converted to CO2e based on emission factors from
DEFRA. Emissions from biofuels is based on input rom suppliers and there
environmental product declaration/proof of sustainability. Calculations are
based on Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) and Indirect Land Use Change (ILUC).
Sales products from YX Smøreolje in Denmark and Norway is not included
in our Scope 3 emissions as they represent a minimal share of our total sales
products.
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SOCIAL DATA
ESG DATA
Employees
Female employees
Male employees
Female employees top/middle management
Male employees top/middle management
Sickness absence

GOVERNANCE DATA
ESG DATA
Gender diversity board
Board attendance rate

EXPLANATION
Total number of employees
Percent female employees of the total number of
employees
Percent men of the total number of employees
Percent female employees in top/middle
management
Percent male employees of employees in top/
middle management
Sick leave as a percentage of the total number
of working days annually and includes long term
sick leave

EXPLANATION
Female board members as a percentage of the
total number of members
Number of board meetings members have
attended as a percentage of the total number of
meetings
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/GRI INDEX
GRI INDEX 2020 ACCORDING TO GRI STANDARDS CORE OPTION

TOPIC SPECIFIC INDICATORS

GRI

GRI

Description

Reference

Further information and omission

102-1

Name of the organization

p.1

Uno-X Energi AS

102-2

Activities, brands, products and services

p.10-15

103-1:3

Disclosure on management approach

102-3

Location of headquarters

p.63

201-1

Direct economic value generated and distributed

p.2, 57, 66-69

102-4

Location of operations

p.10-15

201-2

p.33

102-5

Ownership and legal form

p.63

Financial implications and other risks and
opportunities due to climate change

102-6

Markets served

p.10-15, 44-45

102-7

Scale of the organization

p.10-15, 45, 63

Uno-X Energi material topic: Sustainable Mobility

102-8

Information on employees and other workers

p. 3, 51, 68-69, 103

Emissions

102-9

Supply chain

p.19, 50

102-10
102-11

Significant changes to the organization and its supply See comment
chain
Precautionary Principle or approach
p.6, 18, 24-31

102-12

External initiatives

p.28-31, 38-39

102-13

Membership of associations

p.28-31, 38-39, 47

Organisational profile

No significant changes. Our supply chain is described on page 19.

Economic Performance

103-1:3

Disclosure on management approach

p.24-29

305-1

Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions

p.30, 102

305-2

Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions

p.30, 102

305-3

Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions

p.31-32, 102

305-4

GHG emission intensity

p.3, 102

Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour p.6, 18, 50-51

103-1:3

Disclosure on management approach

403-1

Occupational health and safety management system p.22-23

403-2

Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident
investigation
Occupational health services

p.22-23

p.22-23

403-5

Worker participation, consultation, and
communication on occupational health and safety
Worker training on occupational health and safety

403-6

Promotion of worker health

p.36-39

403-7

Prevention and mitigation of occupational health
and safety impacts directly linked by business
relationships
Work-related ill health

p.22-23

403-3
Governance

403-4
Governance structure

p.6

CEO in Uno-X Energi AS is chairman of the board in all
subsidiaries and the highest governance body for decisionmaking on economic, environmental and social topics. CEO in
each subsidiary of Uno-X Energi has the overall responsibility for
creating, planning, implementing, and integrating the strategic
direction of each company.

403-10

Stakeholder engagement
102-40

List of stakeholder groups

p.19

102-41

Collective bargaining agreements

See comment

102-42

Identifying and selecting stakeholders

p.19, 33

102-43

Approach to stakeholder engagement

p. 20, 28-29, 33

102-44

Key topics and concerns raised

p.19, 33

100% of employees in Norwegian subsidiaries are covered
by collective bargaining agreements. Employees in Danish
subsidiaries are not covered by collective bargaining agreements.

Reporting practice
102-45

p.63

102-46

Entities included in the consolidated financial
statements
Defining report content and topic Boundaries

102-47

List of material topics

p.20-21

102-48

Restatements of information

See comment

This is our first report using GRI Standards

102-49

Changes in reporting

See comment

This is our first report using GRI Standards

102-50

Reporting period

See comment

01.01.2020-31.12.2020

102-51

Date of most recent report

See comment

This is our first report using GRI Standards

102-52

Reporting cycle

See comment

Annual

102-53

Contact point for questions regarding the report

See comment

Torild Bråthen, Dir. ESG, PR and communication

See comment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI
Standards: Core option

102-54

Uno-X Energi will continue to improve disclosure on the financial
implications of the risks and opportunities as identified during
2021/2022.

Occupational Health and Safety

p.6

Ethics and integrity

102-18

Further information and omission

Uno-X Energi material topics: Environment, Health and Safety & Good Health and Well-Being
Statement from senior decision-maker

102-16

Reference

Uno-X Energi material topic: Financial Stability

Strategy
102-14

Description

Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI
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Standards

p.22-23

p.22-23

p.22-23

p.22-23

Uno-X Energi material topic: Gender Equality
Diversity and Equal Opportunity
103-1:3

Disclosure on management approach

p.38-41, 51

Uno-X Energi will continue to work on improving gender equality.

405-1

Diversity of governance bodies and employees

See comment

We aim to report on this indicator for our 2021 report.

Uno-X Energi indicator Female employees top/middle management

p.3, 102

Uno-X Energi indicator Male employees top/middle management

p.3, 102

Uno-X Energi indicator Gender diversity board

p.3, 102

p.19-20, 22, 24, 38, 63

102-55

GRI content index

p.104-105

102-56

External assurance

See comment

This report has not been external assured regarding to GRI
Standard
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of Uno-X Energi AS

/NORWAY

/DENMARK

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Uno-X Energi AS comprising the financial statements of the
parent company and the Group. The financial statements of the parent company comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statements
of cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The consolidated financial statements comprise
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, income statement, statements of comprehensive income,
cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

UNO-X NORGE

UNO-X DANMARK

Jens Haugland, CEO

Ole Johannes Tønnessen, CEO

Gladengveien 2
N-0661 Oslo
unox.no

Buddingevej 195
DK- 2860 Søborg
unox.dk

YX NORGE

YX DANMARK

Thor Kristian Korsvold, CEO

Elo Andersen, CEO

Gladengveien 2
N-0661 Oslo
yx.no

Buddingevej 195
DK-2860 Søborg
yx.dk

YX SMØREOLJE

YX SMØREOLIE

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Norway, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities as required by law and regulations. We have also complied with our
other ethical obligations in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Elo Andersen, CEO

Elo Andersen, CEO

Other information

Gladengveien 2
N-0661 Oslo
olje.yx.no

Buddingevej 195
DK- 2860 Søborg
yxlube.dk

UNO-X FORSYNING

In our opinion,
►

the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations

►

the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the parent
company as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway

►

the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU

Basis for opinion

Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(management) are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Alexandre Guindos, CEO
Gladengveien 2
N-0661 Oslo
unoxforsyning.no
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Responsibilities of management for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway for the financial statements of the parent company and International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU for the financial statements of the Group, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with law, regulations and generally accepted auditing principles in
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also
►

►

►
►

►

►

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern;
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation;
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information
presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and the going concern
assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on registration and documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information», it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to ensure that the Company's accounting information is
properly recorded and documented as required by law and bookkeeping standards and practices
accepted in Norway.
Oslo, 28 May 2021
ERNST & YOUNG AS
The auditor's report is signed electronically
Finn Espen Sellæg
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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